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Welcome
We are pleased to present the seventh Annual Report of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group.
We have yet again worked through challenging times, and are successfully collaborating
with patients, the public, voluntary sector, local councils and those providers of service.
Again, we can demonstrate this through the results of our 360-degree stakeholder survey,
in which 97% of our stakeholders reported an effective working relationship with the CCG.
Our strong alliance partnership with the county council, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust, West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, the Suffolk GP Federation and
community health has been established since January 2018. This means we put people,
rather than organisations, at the heart of decision-making.
West Suffolk people still have good access to healthcare, and we continue to use feedback
to ensure we have plans to meet our most significant challenges. We still have much to do
to develop our approach to reducing inequalities in healthcare.
As ever, this is an opportunity for us to stand back and look at how much we have done. In
the year we celebrated the 70th anniversary of the NHS, we saw:
•

Significant improvements in quality: For example in Learning Disability annual health
checks, Continuing Healthcare, safeguarding and services in care homes.

•

The CCG and West Suffolk Foundation Trust both met their financial commitments
and have collectively invested in system transformation.

•

Amongst best nationally for many better care standards, such as delivering
‘outstanding’ rated diabetes care, great stroke outcomes and early diagnosis of
cancer.

•

Delivered exemplary primary care and delivery of 100% access, and we are amongst
best nationally for CQC results.

•

Important improvement in Delayed Transfers of Care in hospitals and community
hospitals in 2018/19, thanks to strong social care, voluntary and allied health
professionals partnership working. We have the lowest excess bed days in the NHS.

•

Achieved considerably below national CCG average sickness rates and worked with
Suffolk MIND for staff emotional resilience.

•

The National Hip Fracture Database has rated West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
as the top hospital in the United Kingdom for meeting best practice criteria for
patients treated for a hip fracture.

•

Establishment of social prescribing in partnership with West Suffolk Council in
Haverhill, Mildenhall and Brandon, with our partners in West Suffolk Council
investing over £660,000.
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Welcome continued
•

Investing in the further roll out of extended access to GP services, offering a
significant increase in GP appointments available weekday evenings and weekends.

•

Between April 2018 and October 2018, some 1,882 patients with eight or more
medications on their repeat prescriptions have had their medication reviewed at their
GP practice in Suffolk. It saw 2,902 medications either stopped or the dose reduced.
This reduces the risks of adverse effects and unnecessary medications, as well as
improving people’s quality of life.

•

We increased investment in the voluntary sector, such as grant schemes,
encouraging collaboration and funding to stop people reaching crisis point. In
2018/19 we transferred £2.0m of NHS resource to invest in small charities and
community voluntary organisations.

•

By working together, the Suffolk CCGs and Suffolk County Council, have been able
to joint fund Citizens Advice to the tune of £374,000, recognising the positive
contributions made by our local Citizens Advice, including to the health and wellbeing
of people across Suffolk.

•

Suffolk CCGs have created an Emergency Food Fund in partnership with Suffolk
Community Foundation (SCF), which has already awarded over £65,000 to 10 local
food banks and other voluntary organisations involved in feeding hungry people in
Suffolk.

•

In a ground-breaking move, the East and West Mental Health and Emotional
Wellbeing Strategy was coproduced to make it meaningful for service users. More
than 4000 people were heard in #averydifferentconversation. We will be begin new
services and will specifically pilot mental health working more locally in Haverhill.

In 2019/20 we will keep developing work with our neighbouring CCGs in west Suffolk and
north east Essex as part of our shadow Integrated Care System, improving efficiencies,
finances and quality of services.
We recognise the huge amount of work our staff, GPs, nurses, other allied health
professionals and partners have done throughout the year for patients. Thank you to all of
you.

Dr. Christopher Browning, Chair of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Ed Garratt, Chief Officer of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction
This section of the Annual Report looks at how our system has performed over the last
financial year. It provides information on the purpose and activities of the CCG, describing
the environment in which the CCG works, its organisational structure, its objectives and
strategies for achieving these in the context of its local population. The issues and risks
associated with achieving these objectives are explained. The section concludes with a short
summary of performance during 2018/19, with further detail provided in the Performance
Analysis section.
The CCG has made significant progress towards addressing the health priorities of the local
community, while at the same time keeping spending within budget and meeting most of the
performance targets set out in the NHS Constitution.
We have developed a set of clear ambitions and priorities that will ensure a local approach
to our delivery of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
At the heart of our approach is a determination to work more closely with our health and
social care providers, and our local communities, to improve the quality of the services we
commission.
To achieve our ambitions we have identified six clinical priorities. They are:







to develop clinical leadership
to demonstrate excellence in patient experience and patient engagement
to improve the health and care of older people
to improve access to mental health
to improve health and wellbeing through partnership working, and
to deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement.

During 2018/19 we have engaged with patients and stakeholders, listened to their feedback
and responded to their healthcare needs on many areas of work, but have specifically been
engaging in co-production of mental health services in Suffolk.
This approach is helping us achieve our goal of delivering long-term sustainable health
services that provide comprehensive, high quality care for all.
Our partner organisations across west Suffolk are committed to helping us create an
integrated health and care system aimed at keeping our local communities well and enabling
people to live independently with a good quality of life for as long as possible.
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction continued
We recognise the crucial role GP practices play in preventing ill health and managing people
with long-term conditions, which is why we have placed primary care at the very heart of our
joint plan to implement the General Practice Forward View (GPFV) and the NHS Long term
plan.
The long term plan builds upon the GPFV and has several key areas.
It increases investment and certainty around funding and looks to reduce workload and
workforce pressure. It also will ensure general practice plays a leading role in every Primary
Care Network (PCN). The PCNs will include bigger teams of health professionals working
together in local communities.
A short summary of key parts of the PCN contract:










Core general practice funding will increase by £978 million per year by 2023/24
A new state indemnity scheme will start from April 2019 for all general practice staff,
including out-of-hours
Improvements to the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) to bring in more clinically
appropriate indicators such as diabetes, blood pressure control and cervical screening.
There will also be reviews of heart failure, asthma and mental health services. In
addition, there will be the introduction of quality improvement modules for prescribing
safely and end of life care
Additional funding of IT will allow both people and practices to benefit from the latest
digital technologies. All patients will have the right to digital-first primary care, including
web and video consultations by 2021. All practices will be offering repeat prescriptions
electronically from April 2020 and patients will have digital access to their full records
from 2020
A PCN contract will be introduced from 1 July, 2019, as a Directed Enhanced Service
(DES). It will ensure general practice plays a leading role in every PCN and mean much
closer working between networks and their Integrated Care System. This will be
supported by a PCN Development Programme which will be centrally funded and
locally delivered
By 2023/24, the PCN contract is expected to invest £1.799 billion, or £1.47 million per
typical network covering 50,000 people. This will include funding for 20,000 more health
professionals including additional clinical pharmacists, physician associates, first contact
physiotherapists, community paramedics and social prescribing link workers. Bigger
teams of health professionals will work across PCNs, providing tailored care for patients
and will allow GPs to focus more on patients with complex needs.
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG

The CCG was licensed from April 1, 2013, under provisions enacted in the Health and Social
Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
In west Suffolk, GPs chose to form a CCG that would embrace commissioning from the acute,
mental health and community sector. From the 24 member GP practices, eight GPs were
elected to sit on the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body also has two lay members
for corporate governance and patient and public engagement. It shares a third lay member
with NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
The CCG buys, manages and pays for health services including planned and emergency
hospital care, rehabilitation, most community healthcare, mental health and learning disability
services.
Its constitution sets out the arrangements it has made to ensure it meets its responsibilities
for commissioning high quality health care for the people of west Suffolk. It describes the
governing principles, rules and procedures that will ensure integrity, honesty and
accountability in our day-to-day activities.
It commits the CCG to making decisions in an open and transparent way and places the
interests of patients, carers and public at its heart.
The CCG’s constitution can be downloaded at:
https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/
In 2018/19 the CCG spent around £347.8m1 on commissioning healthcare services for local
people. The CCG’s population is registered with west Suffolk’s 24 GP practices and is
predominantly rural, with the population scattered across small towns and villages. The areas
covered include the Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury local authority districts and part of the
Mid Suffolk and Babergh districts.
The total GP registered population of West Suffolk CCG in March 2019 was 252,8002.

1

18-19 Annual Accounts Note 5, Programme total
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/patients-registered-at-a-gp-practice/march-2019

2
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
Office for National Statistics data is available for populations living in West Suffolk CCG. The
mid-2017 estimates indicate that the population was 230,900. The same estimates indicate
that people aged 65+ comprise 21.8% of our population, whereas 22.5% are 19 or under3.
2017 population figures – West Suffolk CCG:
Males
0-19
20-39
40-64
65-79
80+
Total

Females
26,536
29,514
35,698
17,546
5,709
115,003

25,404
26,805
36,636
19,053
8,020
115,918

Between 2018 and 2039 the population in our CCG area is forecast to grow by approximately
11.8%. By 2039 it is forecasted that 29.9% of the CCG population will be aged 65+.
Although the deprivation score for the CCG increased between 2010 and 2015, it is still below
the average for England (16.4 compared to 21.8 nationally). There are no GP practices in the
CCG with a deprivation score higher than the national average. Around 2.5% of the
population (approximately 5,700 people) live in the 20% most deprived small areas within
West Suffolk CCG.
West Suffolk is a generally affluent area, with pockets of relative deprivation in Bury St
Edmunds and the towns of Haverhill, Mildenhall, Newmarket and Sudbury. The most deprived
general practice areas include Haverhill Family Practice, Christmas Maltings & Clements
Practice, Siam Surgery and Hardwicke House.
The latest Quality and Outcomes Framework data (2017/18) for West Suffolk showed that 4:
 an estimated 16.8% of the adult population smoked;
 there were 13,890 adults aged 17 and over with diabetes (6.8% of all registered patients);
 there were 38,854 adults with hypertension (15.5% of all registered patients);

3

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/clini
calcommissioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
4
www.fingertips.phe.org.uk
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
 2,172 people aged 65 and over have a dementia diagnosis (3.9% of all registered
patients, as at September 2017), and
 9.1% (18,563) of registered patients aged 18 and over had a BMI greater than or equal
to 30 in the previous 12 months.
Additional 2016/17 data for Suffolk indicates:
 an estimated 61.5% of the adult population are overweight or obese, and
 20.8% of the adult population are estimated to be physically inactive.
Overall, the population of Suffolk is generally healthy with high life expectancy.

Suffolk males have a healthy life expectancy of 63.2 years, and Suffolk females have a
healthy life expectancy of 65.1 years. Suffolk males and females live approximately 78% of
their lives in ‘good health’. (Data: 2015-17)
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area
Since July 2014 the CCG’s headquarters have been located at West Suffolk House in Bury
St Edmunds, which it shares with colleagues from Suffolk County Council, West Suffolk
Council and the East of England Local Government Association.
West Suffolk House provides flexible, open plan office space along with conference and
meeting rooms, public access areas and a shared staff café (Café West).
Easy access to colleagues from partner organisations improves the effectiveness of joint
working.
We share our management delivery team with colleagues from the neighbouring NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG, based at Endeavour House in Ipswich, where it shares offices
with Suffolk County Council, the Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, Babergh District
Council and Mid Suffolk District Council.
The management delivery team provides contracted services to both CCGs. It is led by a
shared Accountable Officer.
The hot desk facilities available at West Suffolk House enable the shared management
delivery team to work from Bury St Edmunds when necessary, thereby making better use of
resources and time.
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Performance Overview
Commissioning Activity

The CCG commissions services from a range of organisations including acute hospital
trusts, GP practices, voluntary organisations and other NHS and non-NHS providers.
The services we commission include:
•

Urgent care services - including ambulance response services, hospital
accident and emergency departments and the NHS111 telephone service

•

Elective care services - for planned operations and interventions

•

Community services – including community nursing and therapy services,
community hospitals and the provision of community equipment

•

Mental health and learning disability services - provided in both in-patient,
community and at-home settings

•

Tailored domiciliary care packages - to enable people to remain at home, and
nursing home care packages

•

Children’s services – specifically aimed at supporting children including those
with individual NHS care packages and those receiving services provided in
association with Suffolk County Council

•

Primary care services – in and out of hours GP Services, and

•

Non-emergency patient transport.

All contracts with providers are closely managed by a dedicated, highly skilled contracting
team to ensure the services provided are high quality and as safe as required by the
contract, whilst providing value for money for the people of Suffolk.
The team has built strong, collaborative partnerships with our providers, giving support, but
also challenging where appropriate. Our aim is to work from a position of trust, respect and
active clinical leadership.
All commissioning decisions are based on clinical best practice and data analysis. Service
providers are required to demonstrate effectiveness through care outcomes and feedback
from patient experience to ensure value for money. The CCG’s ‘Commissioning Intentions’
for 2019/20 are available to view here.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives
Our core strategies for achieving our objectives are summarised below:

Integrated Care:
Our West Suffolk Alliance vision is to co-ordinate services around the individual so that it feels
like one service. This programme has focused on a number of areas in 2018/19 that have
started to ensure access is simplified and more services are delivered across all six
geographical localities closer to people’s homes and communities.
Specifically this has seen:


Implementation of the national specification for Integrated Urgent Care, which
enhances the original NHS 111 service through delivery of a complete episode of care
concluding with advice, a prescription or an appointment for further assessment of
treatments. Dr Firas Watfeh, the GP clinical lead for the CCG, said: “More than 50%
of calls coming into NHS111 will get to speak directly to a clinician which could be a
doctor, a paediatric nurse or a mental health practitioner for example making sure
people who call get the right advice first time and as quickly as possible.”



Delivering Connect across each of the six localities to drive better integration across
health, care and voluntary organisations. Work has started in Haverhill to improve
mental health care services ensuring that the local integrated neighbourhood teams
(INTs) have access to specialist advice and support. Work has also started to develop
health and wellbeing hubs in Mildenhall, Brandon and Newmarket, bringing together a
range of services to ensure they are joined up and supporting the needs of the local
people

Our West Suffolk Early Intervention Team (EIT) continues to act as a ‘one stop shop’ for
helping people retain their independence, as well as avoiding unnecessary hospital
admissions. During the winter the team benefitted from closer working with the ambulance
service by having a dedicated rapid intervention vehicle supporting local GPs to respond to
people with urgent needs at home.
In September 2019 west Suffolk will have a fully integrated responsive care service bringing
together the EIT, Support to Go Home, the Dementia Intensive Support Team and Suffolk
County Council’s reablement service – Homefirst - into a single response for admission
avoidance and Discharge to Optimise and Assess. This aims to reduce passing a person’s
care to another agency, avoidable delays in care, and to support more people in their own
homes.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
In 2018 we enhanced our offer to care homes, ensuring every care home had a dedicated
GP taking overall responsibility for the medical care of residents. We supported this with
enhanced support from a consultant geriatrician to provide specialist support and advice to
the GP and residents.
The Dutch ‘Buurtzorg’ nursing model continues to be tested in Barrow and plans are being
developed to extend it to work alongside the INT in Bury St Edmunds. The model has
demonstrated real opportunities to bring health and social care delivery much closer together.
Over 1,500 My Care Wishes advance care plans were completed in the community to support
the frail and those with ‘end of life’ needs in their own homes.
Our commitment to the Alliance vision continues to see it rolled out to our localities and owned
by a broader range of people working across health, care, borough councils and third sector,
taking every opportunity to use our organisation and community assets together to drive out
inefficiency and reduce duplication.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Elective Care:
This is routine care in hospital or in the community that is planned following a request from
a doctor, nurse or health and care professional. It is a major part of our work to meet
people’s needs. Clinicians take a lead role in setting priorities.
Diabetes
The Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System used money awarded in 2018/19
to help existing and newly diagnosed diabetes patients achieve their three NICE treatment
targets (HbA1c, Blood Pressure and Cholesterol). This saw several new projects and
services, including:








additional places on education classes for patients with both type 1 and type 2
diabetes
extending the scope of the classes to include existing as well as newly diagnosed
patients and offering classes out of normal working hours to encourage greater
attendance
piloting the use of education over the internet for patients who would otherwise not
be able to engage in face-to-face classes
embedding a mental health practitioner in the diabetes team to receive referrals from
GP practices and the hospital and to offer support for diabetes patients
rolling out a ‘diabetes dashboard’ tool to provide near real-time performance
information to the Integrated Diabetes Service
continuing visits to GP practices by hospital-based diabetes consultants to ensure
the spread of best practice, and
launching a new enhanced dietetic service to provide an ‘Eat, Drink and Live Well’
service for patients who struggle to achieve their treatment targets, including
exercise coaching to pilot the 800 calorie per day ‘remission’ diet to explore its
effectiveness.

Diabetes Prevention Programme - DPP (for pre-diabetic patients)
A new service was launched in August 2018 to enable patients diagnosed as pre-diabetic to
access a nine-month lifestyle programme that focuses on weight management, exercise
and good diet.
The CCG is working with Integrated Care System partners on a higher ambition of
“embedding prevention and providing the best treatment and care” for diabetes patients. A
workshop has been held and an action plan put together.
Elective Care Transformation Programme
At the end of 2018 we agreed to a transformation programme across the whole West
Suffolk Alliance. Though in its infancy, the intention is to identify the scope of the work,
work streams and priorities to start some high impact transformation within planned care.
Work will take place over the next five to seven years.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Musculoskeletal (MSK) Single Point of Referral
We continue to develop and improve the service for people with muscle or skeletal
complaints. This year we have reviewed the service, factoring in views from patients and
GPs. We found that the service is doing well and continues to help ensure that patients are
treated in the right place. Patients are still able to refer themselves into the physiotherapy
service, which avoids a visit to their GP.
Pain Management Service
During 2018, the CCG worked hard to join up this service between the community and the
hospital. This service was planned to start on April 1 2019 and will give patients a better,
more joined up package of care as they move between community and hospital care.
Ophthalmology (eyes)
During 2018 we have continued development of a service for cataract surgery which
means the most severe cases are seen first. This is now working well. Working with NHS
England, we have shown no patients came to any harm while waiting for surgery.
A new minor eye service is now being piloted for patients with simple eye problems and who
would normally go to see their GP or the emergency department. The pilot is due to complete
in April 2019 and, if it was successful, the service will be considered across west Suffolk.
We are encouraging GPs to make their patients aware of this service and it has been widely
communicated in the community thanks to a major publicity campaign.
Stroke
The Suffolk CCGs are working together to improve services for stroke survivors by looking
at potential new models of care for an early supported discharge service and how patients
could be supported with neuro rehabilitation following stroke and acquired brain injury. At a
Sustainability Transformation Partnership (STP) level the current hospital stroke care
pathways and Hyper Acute Stroke Units (HASU) arrangements are being reviewed to
identify opportunities for improvement.
Videoconferencing
In line with the NHS Long Term Plan, we aim to ensure that fewer patients are seen face to
face for a hospital follow up, wherever possible. Videoconferencing appointments were
piloted for patients in certain specialities of the hospital. The feedback from patients to date
has been very positive and this will be introduced to other departments when the pilot
completes in April 2019.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
Cancer
The East of England Cancer Alliance (EoECA), on behalf of the area’s six STPs,
successfully bid for transformation funding in 2018/19 to drive earlier and faster diagnosis of
cancer and to implement the recovery package and follow-up pathways for high-risk
patients across the region.
Faster diagnosis aims to ensure that patients find out within 28 days whether they have
cancer, and support a key priority to diagnose cancer as early as possible. Personalising
aftercare and giving patients more control of their recovery also improves patient
experience. The recovery package and follow-up pathways for high-risk patients form part
of an overall support and self-management package for people affected by cancer, and aim
to better support and improve the quality of life experienced by people living with, and
beyond, the condition.
The Recovery Package has four main elements:
 Holistic needs assessment and care planning
 Treatment summary
 Cancer care review, and
 Health and wellbeing events.
The high-risk patient follow-up approach means ongoing cancer surveillance but fewer faceto-face appointments, with rapid access to support, advice and interventions with the most
appropriate clinicians when needed.
A set of projects that make up the cancer transformation programme have been agreed with
the Suffolk and North East Essex Shadow Integrated Care System and EoECA, and
include:
1.
Lung cancer - implementation of the national optimal lung pathway, including
significant event audits of lung emergencies.
2.
Prostate cancer - implementation of the national best practice prostate pathway,
recovery package and high-risk patient follow-up pathways.
3.
Colorectal cancer - implementation of the national best practice colorectal
pathway recovery package and high-risk patient follow-up pathways. This also
includes the introduction of faecal immunochemical testing in GP practices as a
diagnostic tool to support doctors with the identification of patients at risk of
colorectal cancer.
4.
Develop a vague symptoms clinic to provide a rapid route to diagnostic tests for
patients with non-specific, vague symptoms that are a concern to GPs.
5.
Implementation of the recovery package and high-risk patient follow-up
pathways for breast cancer patients.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Cancer (continued)
The implementation of the cancer transformation programmes will support the delivery of
the Suffolk and North East Essex ICS Cancer Strategy, cancer elements of the West
Suffolk Foundation Trust and East Suffolk and North Essex Foundation Trust strategies and
east and west alliance strategies.
Clinical thresholds and low priority procedures
We have worked with the hospital to move away from the previous pre-procedure approval
process to a more integrated clinical review system. Many services now allow for assessment
at the point of referral to ensure patients are seen in the best place for the care they need.
Dermatology (skin)
The CCG and West Suffolk Hospital work to provide the best possible service for patients.
During 2018, the CCG has reinstated a Teledermatology service, which allows GPs to take
photos of skin problems and send them to dermatologists to have these rapidly and
effectively diagnosed. This means that fewer patients have to wait for a visit to the hospital
to know whether their skin problem is serious. Patients who do need treatment in hospital
can be seen more quickly, while those who do not are reassured rapidly and do not have
an unnecessary visit to the hospital.
Demand Management (planning for demand)
The CCG and West Suffolk Hospital have jointly employed a transformation team working
on demand management. During 2018/19 a full service review of some services started.
Plans to improve service efficiency were jointly developed to give patients a quicker and
smoother journey through the hospital.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Mental Health: Emotional Wellbeing and Children’s Services:
The CCG continues to work closely with patients and its partners to improve health
outcomes for children and young people and patients with mental health issues through the
Suffolk Mentally Healthy Communities Board, the Suffolk Children’s Alliance and the
Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Group. We continue to work closely with the Norfolk and
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) towards better integration of mental and physical
health services.
A number of workshops have been held in partnership with the Suffolk User Forum and
NSFT during the past year to review the delivery and function of local mental health
services.

We co-produced service models for children, young people and families with NHS Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG, Suffolk County Council, health and care organisations, charities,
education, young people and the Suffolk Parent Carer Network.

Toilet Door Campaign
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
Our work during 2018/19 has included:
Mental health services
 In April 2018 the Emotional Wellbeing Hub was launched, a multi-agency single point of
contact for anyone who is concerned about the mental health or emotional wellbeing of
a child or young person aged under 25 in east or west Suffolk. An online catalogue of
local services and information supports the Hub.
 The expansion of the Suffolk Wellbeing Service for children, young people and families,
including a range of webinars such as parenting the anxious child and support with
exam pressures.
 Commissioning a specialist community perinatal mental health service from NSFT with
the specialist midwives at Ipswich and West Suffolk hospitals to directly support women
with severe perinatal mental health presentations. A further bid for NHS England funding
to expand the service to support women with mild to moderate mental health
presentations was successful.
 The provision of £100,000 in recurring funding for a number of voluntary sector
organisations, including Noise Solutions, Anglia Care Trust, Fresh Start New Beginnings
and Homestart, all of which support young people and their families. Suffolk Community
Foundation will be the broker to award a further £200,000 focused on early intervention
and prevention services.
 Commissioning Healthwatch Suffolk’s My Health, Our Future survey with local schools
and colleges, which had over 14,000 responses over a two-year period. The findings
and key themes from this work have directly shaped the areas of work relating to
children and young people, including the development of a local self-harm campaign
and piloting of ‘whole school’ approaches to wellbeing and mental health.
 Commissioning services in partnership with Suffolk County Council through the Mental
Health Pooled Fund. This includes a new information service provided in partnership
with Suffolk Libraries, Suffolk Family Carers and Suffolk MIND to provide advice,
guidance and emotional support to people living in the county.
Dementia
 Continued support for and promotion of the early diagnosis of dementia to ensure that
details of patients with the condition are appropriately recorded on GP registers
 Fulfilling the Alzheimer’s UK criteria for a dementia-friendly organisation. Similar plans
are in place for GP practices.
 Continued work with the award-winning Dementia Together, which was developed with
carers and service users and was first commissioned in 2017.
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Learning Disabilities
 Continued improvement in the care and management of people with learning disabilities
at primary care level, particularly around their uptake of health checks. This included
working with people with learning disabilities to create the materials.
 Introduced four learning disability link nurses to work with general practices to support
people with learning disabilities following a successful pilot, and
 Commissioned a new Adult Learning Disability Intensive Community Support Team and
a Children’s Learning Disability Service through NSFT.
Children’s services
 The introduction of a county-wide Children’s Alliance with the NHS West Suffolk CCG,
West Suffolk Hospital, East Suffolk and North Essex Foundation Trust, NSFT, Suffolk
County Council and the Suffolk GP Federation, which has identified the following key
children’s priorities:
 Priority 1: Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Plan
 Priority 2: Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
 Priority 3: Speech and Language Therapy and Communication
 Priority 4: Neurodevelopmental and Behaviour Pathway to support patients
with Autism (ASD), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and
Conduct Disorder and Behaviour
 Priority 5: Children and Young People’s Community Health Services
 Priority 6: An acute/emergency paediatric pathway

23. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing
#averydifferentconversation
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS West
Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCGs) have worked together with partners over
the past year to co-produce the East and West Suffolk Mental Health and Emotional
Wellbeing Strategy 2019-29 (#averydifferentconversation).
The views of our local population matter to us, so the CCGs, the Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust (NSFT) and their partners wanted to engage with service users, the
people who care for and health professionals in Suffolk in a very different way to the
traditional consultation process.
The CCGs commissioned Suffolk User Forum (SUF), Suffolk Parent Carer Network
(SPCN), Suffolk Family Carers (SFC) and Healthwatch Suffolk to lead and co-ordinate an
independent listening exercise under the banner #averydifferentconversation.
#averydifferentconversation offered the residents of east and west Suffolk a role in creating
a new strategy for how their local mental health services will be delivered. This was an
unprecedented opportunity for people whose lives had been touched by concerns about
mental health to share their experiences of receiving services. Those involved included
users of mental health services, their carers and the professionals involved in the provision
of mental health support.
Over a period of three months, they were invited to feedback about mental health services
through a variety of methods, including online surveys and group engagement events. They
were encouraged to talk about what was working well and what could be done better.
The partnership organisations led on the engagement and held a programme of events over
the summer of 2018, engaging 4,330 people. Healthwatch Suffolk co-designed the survey,
analysed the data and produced the final report. NSFT was very much involved in this
process as the key provider of mental health services in the county.
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Three separate surveys were co-produced by the partnership and distributed online and at
engagement events. There was one survey for service users, one for carers and one for
professionals. There were 768 responses to the surveys - 444 from service users and
members of the public, 169 from carers and 155 from professionals and staff.
Data from ‘My Health Our Future’, Healthwatch Suffolk’s own annual survey of 7,088 young
people from Suffolk schools, aged from 11 to 19, was also included in order to capture the
feedback of young people.
Some of the key themes that have emerged from #averydifferentconversation include:














Lack of access and unmet needs (especially in crisis)
Access (increased waiting times)
Support in the community
Information and signposting
Continued support (especially post discharge)
Being listened to and understood
Quality of services
Integrated care (opportunities)
Resources
Support for carers
Digital support
Schools (lack of support)
Transition from children’s to adult services

The age-inclusive co-produced document sets out how we want mental health and
emotional wellbeing services to respond and function in the future, and emphasises the
importance of the views of service users, families and carers and professionals. The CCGs
are committed to continuing to support and raise the profile of co-production with partners
as we move into this next phase of work.
In 2019/20 the CCGs will be focusing on developing a revised model for mental health and
commissioning options across east and west Suffolk based on the ‘four quadrant’ model of
1) Self care
2) Universal health - primary prevention and care
3) Access and brief community-based interventions, and
4) Acute/specialist-based interventions
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They will also be working increasingly within the context of the Suffolk and North East
Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) and developing the east and west Suffolk alliances.
The CCGs also aim to develop new models of care as described in the NHS England
Mental Health Five Year Forward View and NHS England Long Term Plan (January 2019)
including:






Improving access for children and young people to mental health services so that at
least 35% with a diagnosable mental health condition receive treatment from a
community mental health service.
Ensuring that 95% of children in need of an eating disorder service receive treatment
within an evidence-based community eating disorder service within one week for
urgent cases, and four weeks for routine cases
An Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) Service
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A system-wide crisis model including Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team
(CRHTT)
An enhanced Psychiatric Liaison Services (PLS) at the East Suffolk and North Essex
Foundation Trust (ESNEFT) and the West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT)
Increased physical health checks by GPs and the creation of an Individual
Placement Support (IPS) service for patients with Severe Mental Illness (SMI)
Delivering the dementia diagnosis target (67%) in the IESCCG and WSCCG areas
Delivering Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) to deliver 22%
interventions in 2019/20 (Q4) with a focus on Long Term Conditions (LTCs) and to
plan for 25% in 2020/21 (Q4) - this will include closer working with Ipswich Hospital
and West Suffolk Hospital in support of LTCs
Reducing avoidable ‘out of area’ mental health placements (to be led by the Clinical
Quality Team), and
Implementing CCG transformation funded mental health schemes including:
 Rolling out the Living Life to the Full (LLTTF) initiative to all IESCCG and
WSCCG GP member practices
 the Mental Health Education Package for GP practices, and
 Serenity Intensive Monitoring (SIT) with NSFT and Suffolk Constabulary.
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Primary Care:
The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality and resilient primary care services.
Our GP Forward View strategy, drawn up with our colleagues from the NHS Ipswich and
East Suffolk and NHS North East Essex clinical commissioning groups, supports member
practices and ensures patients continue to receive high quality services.
Delegated commissioning
We have been directly responsible for commissioning general practice services under these
delegated arrangements for two years. It means more primary care decisions to be made at
a local level and ensure a better fit with other care services through increased partnership
working. The arrangements are working well and a recent report by the internal auditors
indicated that they are robust.
Practice resilience
The CCG works with local practices that have encountered problems in continuing to
provide a service to their patients. This approach has been supported through the
development of four large practice groupings that have created new posts for practice
pharmacists and paramedics.
Care homes
During 2018/19 the CCG further developed its GP-led care home services, which give GP
practices the necessary funding to provide proactive care for care home patients. This
includes improved medicine reviews and focused work around frailty and dementia.
Local enhanced services
A range of additional services have been commissioned from GP practices to maximise the
delivery of care closer to patients’ homes.
Personal medical services contract
A dashboard tool has been developed to help GP practices monitor how they are
performing. This is reported to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
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Medicines Management:
The Medicines Management Team has focused on safe, appropriate and cost-effective
prescribing based on the latest evidence. Work in 2018-19 included:










Ongoing promotion of appropriate prescribing of painkillers, in particular focusing on
reduced prescribing of high dose opioids and gabapentinoids. Prescribers have
adhered to the WSCCG pain ladders for acute, neuropathic and chronic pain. These
include a wide range of non-drug strategies to help people manage their pain and
highlight the risks associated with high dosage and long-term opioid use. The ladders
have been produced in partnership with specialists from the West Suffolk Pain Service
and are now supplemented with a wide range of further supporting documents, e.g.
guides on opioid and gabapentinoid reduction strategies.
Collaboration with the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS North East Essex CCGs
to recruit three clinical pharmacists and three pharmacy technicians to work in care
homes across Suffolk and north east Essex. This is funded through an NHS England
programme and aims to improve quality of care through better medicines use, reduce
risk of harm from medicines, release resources through medicines optimisation, waste
reduction, reduction in hospital admissions/ambulance call-outs and to release care
home nursing time.
Updated joint WSCCG-West Suffolk Hospital guidelines for the management of asthma
in adults. These include details of formulary inhalers to promote a consistent approach
across west Suffolk.
Promotion of good antimicrobial stewardship, which has resulted in a significant
reduction in inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics to within nationally acceptable limits,
thereby helping to reduce the incidence of antibiotic resistance. Appropriate prescribing
of antibiotics relies on adherence to the updated Suffolk antibiotic formulary. This
advises that antibiotics should only be prescribed when there is likely to be a clear
clinical benefit and that ‘broad spectrum’ antibiotics should be avoided if possible as
they increase the risk of Clostridium difficile, MRSA and resistant urinary tract
infections.
Polypharmacy medication reviews were carried out for about 2,000 patients who had
eight or more medications on their repeat prescriptions, including many who were
prescribed painkillers with potential for addiction. This has resulted in the
discontinuation or dose reduction of about 3,000 medications, thereby optimising
medicines use, reducing the risk of adverse effect, reducing unnecessary medication
burden and improving quality of life.
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Collaboration with secondary care to successfully transfer the prescribing of
subcutaneous methotrexate (for control of active joint inflammation) from secondary
care to primary care under shared care agreements aims to provide medication closer
to the patient’s home and improve safety.
Production of a policy to limit the prescribing of FreeStyle Libre glucose monitors to
patients who satisfy stated criteria (developed in partnership with diabetes specialists)
and are under the care of our specialist-led diabetes team.
Ongoing promotion of cost-effective prescribing of blood glucose testing strips, needles
for insulin devices and lancets.
Delivery of efficiency savings of about £800,000 from the GP prescribing budget which
will allow reinvestment in other NHS services to benefit the west Suffolk population.

Examples of engagement with patients and the public, and the impact it has had
include:

 Patient story at GP education event - This case study highlighted the challenges





experienced by patients who have to travel to West Suffolk Hospital for repeat supply of
subcutaneous methotrexate. From a patient’s perspective, it described the benefits of
transferring the prescribing of subcutaneous methotrexate from secondary care to
primary care. It also helped to strengthen the case for a patient-centred approach to the
prescribing of subcutaneous methotrexate.
‘Think Pharmacist’ campaign – This is an ongoing campaign that encourages
patients to seek advice from their local community pharmacist for the treatment of minor
conditions rather than making an appointment to see their GP or visiting the Emergency
Department.
Self-care bookmarks and booklets - These have been displayed in GP waiting rooms
and other public places and help raise awareness amongst members of the public of
the cost of medicines prescribed for minor conditions, such as indigestion, dry skin or
hay fever. The booklets help patients to self-treat conditions such as constipation and
insomnia and so to reduce pressure on GP appointments for minor conditions.

 ‘Treating your infection’ leaflets - GPs have given these to patients in situations
where an antibiotic may have been expected, but is not appropriate. This has helped to
reduce inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics, reducing antibiotic resistance.
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NHS Continuing Healthcare:
NHS Continuing Healthcare (NHS CHC) is for adults who have a primary health need. The
care and support they need is arranged and funded solely by the NHS. The NHS CHC
Team aims to achieve the best possible assessment of, and care for patients and to ensure
these are delivered locally in a fair and cost-effective way.
The NHS CHC Team in 2018/19 have:
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•

Integrated social care staff into the NHS CHC Team to create a more efficient
service for patients and their families.
Attended public engagement events to answer questions about NHS CHC.
Continued a training programme on the NHS CHC assessment processes for
local health, social care, and voluntary organisation colleagues.
Extended the NHS CHC ‘Discharge to Assess’ model so that assessments are
only conducted in an acute or community hospital setting in exceptional
circumstances.
Improved processes with local hospitals and social care to ensure NHS CHC
patients are discharged promptly and safely and transition to the updated
National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS-funded Nursing
Care October 2018 (revised).
Delivered joint training with social care to improve the assessment process.
Continued participation in the nationwide NHS England NHS CHC Strategic
Improvement Programme.
Developed the new model for home care delivery in Suffolk with social care.
Joint working on the Residential and Nursing Care Home Strategy to develop a
sustainable care home market for Suffolk, and
improved working with social care and the two Suffolk CCGs’ quality teams to
maximise standards among domiciliary and care home providers.
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The CCG’s Agreed Revenue Allocation for the year ending 31 March 2019, was
£362.2m. This was based on a formula that takes into account factors such as the age
and needs of the population served by the CCGs, as well as market forces.

Resources
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS West Suffolk CCGs are overseen by a
single management delivery team headed by an accountable officer. Both CCGs also
have a shared Chief Nursing Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief Contracts Officer,
Chief Corporate Services Officer and Chief Transformation Officer. Each CCG has its
own dedicated Chief Operating Officer.
This structure has enabled the provision of:
•
•
•

dedicated support for the specific functions required of each CCG, its
Governing Body, committees and membership
expertise in safeguarding, quality and safety, financial management and
contracting, and
economies of scale through shared functions.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties relevant to each CCG during the course of 2018/19 are
recorded and managed via its Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).
At year end, the NHS West Suffolk CCG carried forward a number of risks on the
GBAF in the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reduction in the capacity of GP services in Haverhill
Meeting 18 week referral to treatment targets
Mental health trust performance
Meeting statutory safeguarding duties
Accident and emergency targets
Blood transfusion services
SEND reforms
Backlog of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards requiring Court of Protection
Authorisation
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAST) performance
Cyber security risks
Brexit, and the possibility of a ‘no deal’ exit from the European Union
Cancer targets
NHS111 service targets
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All of these risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the chief officers and reports are
made to Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee, which
hold the CCG to account regarding plans to mitigate these risks. They are discussed
further in the Governance statement on Page 95.
Each chief officer maintains a local risk register that ensures that risks are identified as
early as possible and managed to reduce their potential impact.
A Risk Forum has been set up to enable risks and activities to be shared across the
organisation, enabling a more holistic approach to risk management.
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Management of Conflict of
Interests have been given ‘substantial’ and ‘reasonable’ internal audit assurance
ratings respectively.
The CCG is in the process of implementing Datix risk management software.
The Governing Body has risk management strategies and an organisational framework
that set out how risks should be managed. The full GBAF can be viewed within the
Governing Body papers on our website.
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Current Performance
The West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its key statutory and administrative
financial duties during the financial year ending 31 March 2019 with a cumulative surplus of
£8.65million, against an overall Agreed Revenue Allocation of £362.2million. This surplus was
composed of £7.65million of surplus from previous years and £1 million from 2018/19.
Financial performance targets can be found in Section 3 Accounts, Note 18.
The NHS continues to face a challenging financial environment which, combined with rising
demand and costs locally, meant the savings required through Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes continued to be a significant factor driving the
CCG’s financial plans, to ensure that financial targets were achieved.
The CCG was able to deliver the level of savings required thanks to a combination of
factors including continuing the new method of contracting introduced in 2016/17 with West
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, continued improved performance in prescribing, and by
continuing to make savings in the overall level of Continuing Healthcare costs, despite
continued upward pressures on prices and demand.
CCGs aim to deliver a range of performance targets on behalf of their resident populations.
These are a combination of the NHS Constitutional Standards and the targets set out in the
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework, both of which are nationally prescribed.
In addition to the national performance targets, the CCG aims to make progress on a
number of local indicators as determined by the CCG Quality Premium programme and
other locally determined priorities.
NHS West Suffolk CCG measures its performance against this range of national and local
performance measures through an Integrated Performance Report which is presented to
the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee.
These reports monitor progress over the year using a traffic light system to show
performance against target levels. Explanations are included to alert the decision-making
committees to the reasons for any variances and action planned to improve or maintain
performance.
Risks to achievement of targets and plans to rectify continued dips in performance are
incorporated into the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
While there are some targets which have not been met in full, such as the four-hour accident
and emergency standard, 18-week Referral to Treatment and the ambulance targets, which
are especially challenging given the rural nature of much of the CCG’s area, the CCG
continues to perform well.
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The majority of targets relating to cancer treatment waiting times continue to be achieved or
are close to target, with good progress being made on the mental health targets.
Pages 47-51 show the performance of the CCG against the standards set out in the NHS
Constitution and Outcomes Framework.
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Sustainability Lead
It is essential that along with all other health and public sector partner organisations we
embrace sustainability and place it at the heart of every decision and action we take.
In doing so, sustainability will become a core value within our organisation, leading to a
positive culture of sustainable development and a reduction in our carbon footprint. To drive
this forward the Chief Corporate Services Officer has taken the lead on sustainability for the
organisation.
Sustainable Development Management Plan
Our Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) sets out our vision for becoming
a leading sustainable organisation and explains how we intend to do this. It determines how
we respond to the current and emerging environmental, social and economic challenges
posed by climate change to the healthcare estates and on patient health. In recent years
these have included heatwaves, prolonged periods of cold, floods and droughts.
From our SDMP we have developed an action plan to help identify, target and monitor the
key areas and tasks that need to be undertaken in order to see the vision of the SDMP
fulfilled and to mitigate the climate change risks that could affect Suffolk.
The action plan is divided into the key areas of facilities management, procurement, travel,
workforce, corporate approach and adaptation. Our SDMP, along with our action plan, is
currently being reviewed and updated as part of this wider stakeholder engagement. Patient
and public participation is taking place to ensure the updated version is easy to understand.
Climate Change Adaption Planning
The CCG is a member of the Suffolk Resilience Forum, and as such takes part in the
Community Risk Assessment process for Suffolk where the county’s climate risks are
assessed. As an organisation we have a specific floor plan and have included action cards
from the National Heatwave Plan and Cold Weather Plan within our emergency response
plan.
Commissioning process and provider environmental performance
In accordance with SDMP guidance, the CCG ensures all providers it commissions services
from maintain a sustainable development management plan, approved by its governing
body.
Within that plan, the providers must demonstrate how they will make progress on social,
economic and environmental aspects of sustainable development for the benefit of public
health, including their performance on climate change adaptation and mitigation, air
pollution, minimising wastes and minimising use of plastics. It must also provide an annual
summary of its progress.
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Scale of commissioning
The CCG commissions services for the patients of west Suffolk, and where possible and
appropriate this is undertaken by becoming party to one contract with multiple
commissioners, either as an associate or lead commissioner, to either align services,
support providers in simplifying services or ensure viable sustainable services.
Managing demand
The CCG undertakes reviews with all providers around demand and activity levels.
These are discussed with providers under ‘business as usual’ arrangements to
determine any actions that need to be taken. Commissioners and providers also
undertake joint activity reviews in line with local and national guidelines.
System efficiency
The CCG’s transformation team works alongside colleagues from provider organisations
to review service line processes and pathways to ensure they remain effective and
efficient.
Pharmaceuticals waste
The CCG works with patients and the public, GP practices, community pharmacies,
dispensaries and care homes to reduce pharmaceutical waste. We have a number of
long standing public campaigns that have been widely promoted to try and reduce the
amount of pharmaceutical waste generated in our area. The CCG’s ‘Open the Bag’
campaign encourages patients to check their bag of medication whilst they are still in the
pharmacy or dispensary and return any medicines they do not need. Medication that is
returned that has not left the pharmacy or dispensary can be re-allocated to another
patient, reducing the amount of waste produced. We also encourage patients to only
order the items they need from their repeat prescription each month and have
developed a poster and patient leaflet to highlight the scale of pharmaceutical waste
locally. The leaflet requests patients to ‘only tick it if you need it’.
Along with the other CCGs in our STP we are working closely with St Helena Hospice in
Colchester to implement the NHS England Medicines Optimisation in Care Homes
programme. The pharmacists and pharmacy technicians recruited to this programme
are working with care home residents and staff, as well as with GP practices and
community pharmacies, to review medication use and reduce waste though careful
stock ordering and rotation, ensuring medication is only ordered when it is needed.
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.
Public Sector (Social Value) Act
The CCG’s procurement team is heavily involved in a programme of work with the Suffolk
Growth Programme Board, which is working on ways to improve opportunities for local
business. A major element of this work is ensuring that the Social Value Act is embedded
into all procurements undertaken by the CCG and its wider public sector partners.
The procurement team endeavours to involve patients and interested members of the public
in every procurement, and is constantly looking at ways to ensure that this involvement is
meaningful for the procurement process and moves the service forward. In securing its
Ophthalmology and Gastroenterology services the CCG jointly commissioned services with
ESNEFT and worked with members of the patient engagement groups from the hospital
and the CCG during the evaluation of service offers.
Resource use and associated CO2 impact (energy, waste & water)
We aim to increase awareness of the need for carbon management and resource efficiency
among our external suppliers and providers by developing sustainable procurement and low
carbon commissioning. This will reduce the carbon footprint of our supply chain as well as
helping to minimise vehicle pollution and reduce environmental damage. We have already
taken steps to encourage sustainable transport by our commissioned services in our
Procurement Policy. This policy includes the requirement for corporate social responsibility
to be one of the key criteria used in assessing the suitability of potential providers.
Our day-to-day sustainability measures include:
 lighting within both Endeavour House and Landmark House being controlled by
motion and daylight sensors, so that lighting is not left on when not needed
 encouraging staff to work electronically and to only print emails and documents when
absolutely necessary (meeting papers are uploaded to a secure portal, meaning
more people can be involved in sharing ideas)
 setting printers to print double-sided to reduce the amount of paper used
 uploading papers for training and education events onto our website for GP
members to read and download as necessary
 providing recycling bins for paper and plastic
 using online internal newsletters to minimise paper waste
 encouraging car sharing and use of public transport, as well as signing up to a cycleto-work scheme, to help reduce our travel emissions
 promoting web or tele-conferencing to reduce the number of cars on the road, lower
carbon emissions and reduce the amount of the working day lost in travelling to offsite meetings, and
 commissioning services that provide care closer to patients’ homes to minimise
carbon emissions by reducing the distance that patients have to travel to health and
social care appointments.
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Staff Travel
We actively encourage employees to make sustainable travel choices when travelling to
and from work, as well for any business travel.
CCG employees based at West Suffolk House are eligible for the benefits of Suffolk
County Council’s Green Travel Plan which aims to maximise the use of public transport.
Staff can travel free on nine buses operating around the town and a 20% discount is
available on bus services and national rail season tickets running into Bury St Edmunds
from surrounding areas.
Facilities are provided to encourage cycling and walking. WSH is on several cycle routes
(see cycle map) and is easy to access from the cycle paths that run to Beetons Way
from Newmarket Road, Western Way and Springfield Road.
Covered cycle shelters are located near the staff entrance to WSH and provide space
for 48 bicycles. There is space for an additional 28 bicycles that can be used by visitors
to WSH near the main entrance to the building. The shelters are well lit and covered by
CCTV cameras. Pool cycles are also available for staff to use. There is a changing area
close to the staff entrance where cyclists and walkers can shower and change after
arriving at work and before leaving. There are four showers in each of the male and
female changing areas. There are 44 lockers for cyclists and walkers to store cycle
equipment and clothing if required. Some are available on a daily basis and others can
be booked for longer periods subject to payment of a deposit for the key.
Staff who use vehicles with an emission rate of 100g/km CO2 or less do not have to pay
to use the Olding Road Car Park, which is a few minutes’ walk from West Suffolk House.
Good Corporate Citizenship Assessment Tool
We will use the Good Corporate Citizenship Assessment Tool to monitor the less
obvious benefits of sustainable development. We will join the Investors in the
Environment Network, which supports organisations to reduce their direct reliance on
energy and natural resources, thereby cutting costs and emissions.
Based on our commitment to improving our environmental performance we hope to
achieve Investors in the Environment ‘Silver Award’ accreditation in 2019/20.
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The CCG works in partnership with providers to promote high quality services across the
county. The Chief Nursing Officer Team is integral to the monitoring of, and support for,
patient safety and quality within commissioned services whilst also covering a wide range of
other functions for the CCG:
These include:
 Expert advice on safeguarding children (including children in care) and adults and
support for the local health system
 Provider support for the delivery and development of the Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND) agenda
 Dedicated support for care homes to promote quality improvement in the sector
 Infection and prevention control expertise
 Consideration of requests for funding for care and treatment that fall outside of
commissioned pathways
 Management of complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) enquiries
 Emergency planning and resilience advice and support
 Continuing Healthcare (CHC) assessment, and
 Health support for the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).
Quality and performance is measured and assured through a robust governance framework,
with a strong emphasis on patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. The
CCG works with its providers to support the use of national programmes, policies and
guidelines that help to improve patient safety and promote a sustainable service. Assurance
is required regarding the quality improvement plans (QIPs) for all providers and the CCG
influences their development through collaborative working.
The CCG and partners ensure there is accountability for the actions necessary to reduce
avoidable harm within health care. Providers identify and report on incidents, serious
incidents and deaths within their services. There is a requirement for lessons to be learnt, to
reduce risk, and to promote patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness.
Outcomes that evidence improved quality to services:
• System-wide improvement of patient safety, clinical outcomes and patient experience,
through alignment of workforce strategies within the Sustainability and Transformation
Plan (STP)
• Positive patient and carer experience
• Evidence of quality improvements by providers
• ‘Outstanding’ or ‘Good’ Care Quality Commission ratings for all providers
• Reduction of harm related to problems in health care
• Implementation and delivery of responsive and robust remedial action plans, and
• Workforce strategies aligned to the STP and the NHS Long Term Plan (2019).
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There is on-going analysis and review of key performance indicators and agreed health
outcomes. These are discussed regularly by the CCG and its providers to provide assurance
regarding performance, quality, safety and patient experience. Quality visits by the Chief
Nursing Officer Team review the services for assurance or improvement. Where assurance
is not possible, or it is identified that improvement is required, a remedial action plan is
developed to allow recovery and improvement. A focused review of remedial action plans in
association with quality improvement visits and regular assurance meetings will ensure
oversight.
Assurance can be gained through analysis of:
• performance against national safety standards
• performance against staff training and competency requirements
• compliance with national clinical guidance
• patient experience data
• staff surveys
• indicators against remedial action plans
• quality improvement initiatives, and
• compliance against investigative recommendation metrics.
In carrying out its functions the team enables the CCG to fulfil its duty to ensure continuous
improvement in the quality and outcomes of the services commissioned. Safeguarding
practices ensure the promotion of child safety and welfare and the team is represented on
the Local Safeguarding Children Board.
The Chief Operating Officer’s team has provided dedicated support to primary care providers
before and after CQC inspections in addition to wide-ranging training and education for
clinicians and management teams.
The CQC has now inspected all 24 GP practices in the CCG area 22 were rated “good” or
“outstanding”. The two practices that require improvement are working through their action
plans with the support of the primary care team.
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Engaging people and communities
Our ethos
One of the CCG’s six priorities is to demonstrate excellence in patient experience and
patient engagement. It means people can voice their ideas, views and wishes in our
commissioning, making a meaningful contribution to plans, proposals and decisions about
local services.
While this is a legal duty, it is also the right thing to do. Our teams can better understand
health needs and make impactful changes that work for patients. Making sure that we
monitor patient experience and that people are part of our decision-making processes is
integral to our work. The CCG believes that encouraging and offering opportunities for
people – whether these are patients, carers or community groups and their representatives
– helps us to deliver higher quality services.
Throughout this report, there are many examples of how we work with partners effectively
to improve patient care. It has allowed us to take a firm grip of delivery of improved services
(see case studies section).
Governance and assurance
Our Community Engagement Group (CEG) is a sub-group of the Governing Body.
Members represent different localities in west Suffolk. The CEG’s aim is to make sure the
public’s views are taken into account when we plan and develop services, before decisions
are made. Its members are also able to share their individual health care experiences or
those of their communities. The Chair of the CEG and its vice-chair, the lay member for
patient and public involvement, both sit on the CCG’s Governing Body. The lay member’s
responsibilities also include chairing the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
The CEG, which meets every other month around the patch, ensures there is a patient
voice by:
 Regularly receiving and commenting on CCG plans
 Working with clinical and commissioning colleagues on service re-design
programmes
 Gathering and feeding in views from the local community via attendance at practicebased patient participation groups and forging links with local voluntary and
community groups (PPGs)
 Supporting practices to develop PPGs.
Our newly appointed lay member Lynda Tuck has embedded our engagement framework
and toolkit to support staff this year. This had been developed and introduced in 2017/18. In
partnership with the CEG and other partners, we have reviewed how we will communicate
and engage well through the emerging alliances in the coming years. This work also saw us
develop a draft communications and involvement strategy. The NHS England assessment

42. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Performance Analysis
Engaging people and communities continued
of the communications and engagement work in the CCG was ‘good’. Auditors TIAA
declared they were ‘substantially assured’ – the highest standard - on the quality of our
patient involvement.
Here are some examples of the impact of participation 2018/19. More information can
be found in our case studies section.
• Co-produced mental health services with partners - 4,000 people helping to shape
the final strategy, bringing people together to work together on a common problem.
• Worked with those with Learning Disabilities, resulting in more people having a care
plan
• Engaged with the public and patients on consent to share health records which
means more people than ever have actively chosen to share their health record. This
work also won national recognition from NHS England
• Improved opportunities for education of people with diabetes, meaning more people
understand their condition and can manage it
• Engaged with over 60 staff across west Suffolk on the development of a new
Responsive Care Service offer, paving the way for better services for patients
• Reviewed ophthalmology services, leading to a pilot of minor eye services in the
community and individual patients having informed choice for cataract surgery
• Developed a more efficient way to diagnose and treat atrial fibrillation, piloted as part
of 100-day challenge with NHS England
• Acted on feedback from Healthwatch Suffolk, working with voluntary sector and
clinicians to improve patient paperwork for My Care Wishes. This is a shared care plan
for those people with complex health and social care needs.
How the CCG involves patients and the public
Every year the Patient Revolution event attracts partner organisations, stakeholder groups
and members of the public to talk about health and social care issues they want to raise.
The CCG feeds back on what they have done on the issues people cared about the
previous year, and then there is an open agenda.
All our stakeholder groups provide patient and public feedback on all aspects of service
provision and on the WSCCG Governing Body decisions, as well as advising us on wider
engagement issues. We go to community events and local forums to find out what patients
and members of the public think about health and wellbeing. Feedback from these meetings
and outreach work in the local community has been used to shape the future of local health
services. This has included the Suffolk Disability Forum, One Haverhill Partnership and
Healthwatch Suffolk’s AGM.
Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service reports to our Governing Body on patient feedback,
which can be found in the performance pack. A review of the year can be found on page 73.
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Member practices, learning and best practice
Another strong area has been regular meetings with members of GP practices and patient
participation groups (PPGs). We actively support member GP practices to help them manage
their work, share best practice and give them the knowledge they need to function effectively.
We also support the PPGs in their development where they want it. We still provide funding
for PPGs from across west Suffolk to join the National Association for Patient Participation
(NAPP) to give them access to shared resources and learning.
Future plans
We have worked hard to integrate health and social care services. During the year, we have
focused on the development of the emerging alliances. This will mean we have better
opportunities to take into account the area’s diverse population and the health inequalities we
need to address. For example, in Brandon there is evidence that there is a higher chance of
people having strokes, so we are able to hold an event with the population to motivate people
to reduce their chances. Other health assessments will specifically help us improve
experiences and information sharing for patients.
During 2018/19 the CCG and West Suffolk Council shared staff member appointments. We
have strengthened the team with a Transformation Engagement Manager and developed
six new posts to work within localities as we develop alliance working. This provides a direct
link with the council’s Families and Communities Team thanks to strongly forged
relationships.
You can read more about how we involve patients, carers, community groups and the public
in every stage of our commissioning process in the ‘Get Involved’ section of our website. This
provides more information on how people get involved in shaping NHS services.
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Reducing Health Inequalities
In line with its legal duty to reduce health inequalities the CCG works closely alongside the
Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board (SHWB) and Public Health England (PHE).
The CCG’s aim is to work closely with PHE to ensure we make high impact, cost effective
interventions to achieve this.
Through the SHWB we provide direct support for those groups of people in the county
which experience worse care and health outcomes. NHS England’s 10-Year Plan
challenges organisations to work harder to close the gap in inequalities and the CCG has
an Operational Plan to set out how it will respond to that challenge.
Suffolk’s ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (refresh 2016-2019)’ outlines the steps that
need to be taken to help people in the county live healthier, happier lives and aims to
narrow the differences in healthy life expectancy between those living in our most deprived
communities and those from more affluent areas. The strategy is currently being reviewed
and refreshed with the active input of the CCG.
The CCG has also worked with wider health and care partners on the development of the
Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance Strategy, which sets out a firm commitment to tackling
health inequalities.
During 2018/19 we have carried out a significant piece of work to develop our Mental Health
and Emotional Wellbeing Strategy through co-production. This has resulted in more than
4,000 residents feeding in their thoughts regarding what needs to change. The resultant
strategy has been approved, and we are now working through an implementation plan.
One of the key elements of this is reducing health inequalities and we have already
committed to invest funding to address this through:





investing in a service focused on supporting adults who have been victims of
sexual abuse
investing further in Suffolk MIND to extend the Night Owls service that provides
dedicated telephone support to residents with personality disorders and investing
further in WAVES, an initiative that provides support groups to those with
personality disorders
investing in a joint programme with Suffolk Police to focus on supporting highintensity users of services so that we can better co-ordinate with and intervene in
a small group of users of our services.
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Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board is the key Suffolk leadership group for health, care and
wellbeing. It is the forum where the CCG, together with Suffolk County Council and other partners
from the local health economy including the police, the voluntary sector and Healthwatch Suffolk,
work together to improve wellbeing outcomes. The vice-chairman is the CCG's Accountable Officer.
We have a joint health and wellbeing strategy as local authorities and clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs) have equal and joint duties to prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments for their areas.
This then informs a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which is delivered through their Health and
Wellbeing Board.
In Suffolk there continues to be a very high level of interest in and engagement with the work of the
Health and Wellbeing Board, which extends much more widely than just the statutory partners.
Evidence of this can clearly be seen in the report of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board for
2017 and 2018.
Health and Wellbeing Board aims to achieve its vision through its strategy, which it first set out in
2012. Key changes since 2012 include collaborative working within health and care. We have been
moving ever closer together, for example this year this now includes place-based Alliances as well
as Local Delivery Groups and the Integrated Care System. We have greater availability of data and
information to report on elements of the strategy; and the structure and functions of partner
organisations.
The CCG’s strategic objectives are closely linked to the four key outcomes of the Suffolk Health and
Wellbeing Board, ensuring we contribute directly to the delivery of the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.
Its four key aims are:
(i) Every child in Suffolk has the best start in life
(ii) Ensuring people of working age in Suffolk are supported to optimise their health and
wellbeing
(iii) Older people in Suffolk have a good quality of life; and
(iv) People in Suffolk have the opportunity to improve their mental health and wellbeing.
The Board are committed to developing a Health in All Policies (HIAP) approach wherever possible.
HIAP is a collaborative approach, that aims to improve everyone’s health by incorporating health
considerations into decision making across sectors, policy and service areas, as well as addressing
the wider determinants of health
The CCG has been involved in refreshing and simplifying the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2019-2022, based on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment which can be found here.
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A&E

Cancer Waiting Times

Referral To Treatment

The national performance measures shown in the tables below are taken from the
NHS Outcomes framework and NHS constitutional standards. Performance against
these indicators is reviewed monthly by the CCG’s Governing Body and Clinical
Scrutiny Committee as part of our Integrated Performance Report. An overview of
performance in 2018/19 is provided in the following section
RTT Incomplete pathway - Target 92%
2018/19
E.B.3
Total incomplete pathways
Plan
% completed in 18 weeks
Total incomplete pathways
Actual
% completed in 18 weeks
RTT 52 Week Waits - Target: Zero
2018/19
E.B.18
Plan
Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways
Actual
Diagnostics Test Waiting Times (% Waiting more than 6 weeks) - Target 1%
2018/19
E.B.4
Plan
Percentage waiting more than 6 weeks for diagnostic tests
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 2 Week Wait - Target 93%
2018/19
E.B.6
Plan
All Cancer 2 week waits
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 2 Week Wait (Breast Symptoms) - Target 93%
2018/19
E.B.7
Plan
Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 31 Day First Treatment - Target 96%
2018/19
E.B.8
Plan
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within one month
Actual
of a cancer diagnosis
Cancer Waiting Times - 31 Day Surgery - Target 94%
2018/19
E.B.9
Plan
31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-surgery
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 31 Day Drugs - Target 98%
2018/19
E.B.10
Plan
31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-anti cancer drug regimens
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 31 Day Radiotherapy - Target 94%
2018/19
E.B.11
Plan
31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-radiotherapy
Actual
Cancer Waiting Times - 62 Day GP Referral - Target 85%
2018/19
E.B.12
Plan
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within
Actual
two months (62 days) of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
Cancer Waiting Times - 62 Day Screening - Target 90%
2018/19
E.B.13
Plan
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62Actual
days of referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service
Cancer Waiting Times - 62 Day Upgrade - Target is national average
2018/19
E.B.14
Plan
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62Actual
days of a consultant decision to upgrade their priority status
A&E West Suffolk Foundation Trust 4 hour wait - Target 95%
2018/19
E.B.5
Plan A&E waiting time - total time in the A&E department to be less than 4 hours for
Actual
at least 95% of patients

Comments
18/19
15,671
92.0%
19,110
85.6%

National target is for a minimum of 92% of patients on an
incomplete pathway, to be treated within 18 weeks. Also
target is for fewer people to be waiting at March 19
compared to March 18, which was 15,671.

18/19
10
95

National target is for zero patients to wait more than 52
weeks from referral to treatment.

18/19
1.0%
2.8%

National target is for a maximum of 1% of patients to wait 6
weeks or more for a diagnostic test.

18/19
93.1%
90.6%
18/19
93.6%
80.6%
18/19
96.4%
99.2%
18/19
96.7%
97.6%
18/19
100.0%
100.0%

National cancer targets are shown for the minimum
achievement required. For example, at least 93% of all
patients referred on a cancer 2 week wait pathway should
be seen within the 2 weeks.

18/19
94.9%
97.5%
18/19
85.7%
83.4%
18/19
95.9%
90.2%
18/19
88.4%
98.1%
18/19
93.6%
90.5%

National target is for at least 95% of patients attending an
A&E dept to be seen within 4 hours. Performance shown is
for West Suffolk Foundation Trust (WSFT) only. Measuring
against an agreed trajectory to achieve 95% by July 18.

47. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Performance Analysis

Ambulance

Primary Care

Dementia

National Performance Measures 2018/19 continued
Dementia - Estimated Diagnosis Rate for people aged 65+ - Target 66.7%
2018/19
E.A.S.1
Plan
Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia
Actual
E-Referral Coverage - Target 100%
2018/19
E.P.1
Plan
100% of GP referrals to 1st Outpatient services to be via E-Referral
Actual
Extended access (evening and weekends) at GP services
2018/19
E.D.14
Plan
Proportion of CCG weighted population benefiting from extended access
Actual
services commissioned 365 days a year
Ambulance C1 Mean Response time ≤7min
2018/19
C1
Total responses
Actual
Mean Response Time
Ambulance C1 90th Centile Response time ≤15min
2018/19
C1 90th
Total responses
Actual
90th Centile
Ambulance handover time - 30 Minutes - Target 0
2018/19
EBS7a

Quality

Actual

Handovers greater than 30 mins

Mar
66.7%
63.61%

National target is for a minimum of 66.7% of the estimated
population with dementia, to be diagnosed, recorded and a
care package in place.

Target is for 100% of GP referrals to be via E-Referral. As
YTD (Jan) reported by NHS Digital and does not include any excluded
97.1% clinics. Awaiting Feb & Mar19 data -local data suggests over
90% achievement. Measuring against agreed trajectory to
64.8%
achieve 100% by September 18.
18/19
84.3%
84.3%
18/19
2826
00:09:24
18/19
2826
00:18:40
18/19
1365

National target is for 100% of the population to benefit from
extended access GP appointments on 365 days a year.

East of England Ambulance Services Trust (EEAST)
Ambulance service response times compared to the
national target, of a maximum of 7 minutes response for the
most urgent calls (C1.)

EEAST handover time at WSFT site. National target is arrival
to handover and then handover to clear should not exceed
30 minutes.

Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (MRSA) - target 0
2018/19
E.A.S.4
18/19
National target is for zero people to acquire MRSA
Target
0
Number of patients acquiring MRSA
Actual
2
Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (clostridium difficile infections) - target maximum of 45National
annuallytarget is for there to be no increase in the number
2018/19
E.A.S.5
18/19
of people acquiring clostridium difficile infections. The
Target
44
target for the CCG is to therefore be less than or equal to
Number of patients acquiring clostridium difficile infections
Actual
60
the 17/18 level of 45.
Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches: Target Zero
2018/19
EBS1
18/19 National target is for zero people to be placed in mixed sex
accommodation on wards.
Target
0
Number of mixed sex accommodation breaches
Actual
27
Cancelled Operations offered a binding date within 28 days - WSFT
Target is for all patients who have an operation cancelled
2018/19
EBS2
18/19
(for non-clinical reasons) to be offered another binding date
Target Patients who have operations cancelled (for non-clinical reasons) not offered
0
within 28 days. Performance shown for WSFT only.
Actual
another binding date within 28 days
89
Urgent Operations cancelled for a second time - WSFT
Target is for zero urgent operations to be cancelled for a
2018/19
EBS6
18/19
second time. Performance is shown for WSFT site only.
Target
0
Number of urgent operations cancelled for a second time
Actual
0

18-week referral to treatment times
Over 85% of patients achieved the measured 18 week referral to treatment standard
against a target of 92%. The target of zero patients waiting over 52 weeks was not
achieved, with 95 patients waiting in excess of this time in 2018/19. The CCG is
working with West Suffolk Hospital to manage demand and capacity to achieve this
standard in a sustainable way in 2019/20.
Diagnostic test waiting times
2.8% of patients waited more than 6 weeks for diagnostics, exceeding the national
maximum target of 1%. West Suffolk Hospital met this standard for most of the year
but dropped below in the last quarter due to difficulties with echocardiogram,
endoscopy and audiology capacity. Full recovery is expected in July 2019 with rising
demand for echocardiograms presenting the most significant challenge.
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Cancer waiting times
There are a number of indicators used to measure performance on cancer waits, the
majority of which have been achieved during the year. Achievement of the 2 week
referral to assessment pathways for cancer remains a challenging area with significant
work being undertaken to improve performance, which has narrowly missed the 93%
target over the year.
Accident and emergency, four hour wait
Performance has been below the national target of 95% during 2018/19 for a variety
of reasons, but remains relatively good compared to most trusts in England. The CCG
is working with West Suffolk Hospital and other partners, including GPs, social care
and the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust to improve performance in
2019/20.
Hospital acquired infections
There were two cases of MRSA during 2018/19. There were 40 cases of Clostridium
difficile, exceeding the plan of 29. All cases of MRSA and Clostridium difficile have
been reviewed by the CCG for learning purposes and we are working with providers
to improve performance in this area in the coming year.
Dementia
Significant efforts have been made to improve the dementia diagnosis rate in the
west of Suffolk. Over 63% of the estimated population with dementia has been
diagnosed during 2018, but the CCG is struggling to achieve the 67% national
standard.
Primary Care
Significant progress has been made during the year on the implementation of ereferral, although it has not yet reached 100%. Figures reported up to January 2019
pending final submission, however the local data collated by the CCG suggests
performance has improved to over 90% in February and March. Extended access
has been rolled out across the CCG and is achieving in line with trajectory.
Ambulance performance
The average waiting time for a Category 1 response across the East of England was
8 minutes and 3 seconds (against the national standard of 7 minutes), with 90% of
patients being seen within 14 minutes and 32 seconds (within the 15 minute response
standard). The agreed investment plan should ensure that the ambulance service has
the extra capacity to meet all national standards going forwards.

49. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Performance Analysis
National Performance Measures 2018/19 continued

Mental Healthcare Targets
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
The CCG exceeded the requirement for more than 19% of the estimated population
with anxiety and/or depression to receive psychological therapies. More than half of
the people treated by the service go on to achieve recovery.
Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP)
The CCG has invested significantly in the EIP service in 2018/19. As a result, more
people are being seen by the service and performance against the two-week
standard for commencement of treatment is improving.
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Children’s Eating Disorder Service
Demand for the children’s eating disorder service has exceeded the national
modelling for this type of service. As a result, additional investment has been made
to improve access to, and sustainability of, the service. The CCG is working toward
achievement of the 2020 targets in this area.
Other commitments
Children’s Wheelchair Service
Over 90% of children received a wheelchair within 18 weeks of referral during
2018/19. This represents a significant improvement on historic waiting times.
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The CCG is committed to sustainability, both as an organisation in its own right and
as a commissioner of services. Sustainable development requires us to be mindful of
the need to look after the environment and the social consequences of our decisions
and actions. We contribute positively to the local economy and community wherever
possible, aim to reduce waste and energy consumption, and seek to minimise any
negative impact we might make on the environment. We have dedicated a
considerable amount of time during 2018/19 to working with colleagues from different
health and care organisations for the benefit of patients and their families.
Transport
As tenants at West Suffolk House (WSH) in Bury St Edmunds, the CCG is part of
Suffolk County Council’s Green Travel Plan, which aims to maximise the use of public
transport.
Staff working at WSH can travel free on nine buses operating around the town and a
20% discount is available on bus services and national rail season tickets running into
Bury St Edmunds from surrounding areas.
Facilities are provided to encourage cycling and walking. WSH is on several cycle
routes (see cycle map) and is easy to access from the cycle paths which run to
Beetons Way from Newmarket Road, Western Way and Springfield Road.
Further information on transport is available on Page 39.
Staff who use vehicles with an emission rate of 100g/km CO2 or less do not have to
pay to use the Olding Road Car Park, which is a few minutes’ walk from WSH.
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Procurement
The CCG’s procurement team are heavily involved in a programme of work with the
Suffolk Growth Programme Board, which is working on ways to improve opportunities
for local business. A major element of this work is ensuring that the Social Value Act
is embedded into all procurements undertaken by the CCG and their wider public
sector partners.
The procurement team involves patients and interested members of the public in every
procurement; constantly looking at novel ways to ensure that the involvement is
meaningful for the procurement process and the service moving forward. Within the
processes to secure the Integrated Pain Management Service the CCG jointly
commissioned services from West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and Suffolk GP
Federation and worked with individuals with an interest in these services to attend one
of the service’s patient engagement meetings. The individuals were able to take part
in the meeting and give their feedback on how the service was listening to their patients
in order to develop their offer.
Facilities Management and Energy Consumption
The CCG shares its headquarters at WSH with Suffolk County Council, St Edmundsbury
Borough Council and the East of England Local Government Association. WSH is a
purpose-built four-storey building providing 4,500sq metres of ‘open plan’ office space
along with conference and meeting rooms, public access areas, a democratic
space/council chamber and a staff café. It recently achieved a BREEAM ‘Excellent’
rating and was rated in Energy Performance Band A. The building has been designed
to achieve a very high energy efficiency standard and has achieved its Percentage
Emissions Reduction Commitment of 47 per cent by incorporating the following design
and operation measures:







structure – the exposed reinforced concrete structure provides high thermal
mass for night cooling, aided by automatically controlled ventilation;
ground source heat pump – this is linked to embedded pipework in a ‘bubble
deck’ concrete floor slab (the first of its kind in the UK) which allows both heating
and cooling of the building mass to control room temperatures;
ventilation - natural ventilation is used wherever possible throughout the building
and the roof pitch is designed to improve natural ventilation;
building management system – the building features a comprehensive BACNet
building management system;
insulation and glazing – WSH incorporates solar performance double glazing,
solar thermal water heating and 20sq metre solar thermal collectors which track
the sun to generate approximately a quarter of the building’s hot water;
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lighting – the building features enhanced lighting systems including lights
installed on the atrium roof to increase daylight penetration into the office, and
rainwater harvesting - to provide some of the water for toilet flushing.

Human Resources
The CCG supports remote working for all eligible staff, enabling peripatetic and
outreach workers such as medicines management technicians to work out of GP
practices as close to their homes as possible, thereby reducing transport costs.t
ICT and Informatics
The Information and Communications Technology (ICT) team delivers infrastructure,
clinical systems support and national projects to deliver ‘digital first’ together with our
partners.
The team is working closer than ever before with other health and care teams as well
as patient groups to support joined up care. This approach means we can:
• support our colleagues to deliver safe, high quality and sustainable services
regardless of location, organisation or care setting by providing the technology to
support new ways of working and ensuring clinicians can access information
swiftly and safely
• work with new technologies to support patient access to services and improve
health and wellbeing in our communities – examples include the NHS App that will
give patients access to their records and help them access services online
effectively. Free patient Wi-Fi has also been enabled in all practices to support
online access
• support safe information sharing for patients, including the need for patients to
‘make a decision’ around sharing their records with health and care professionals
directly involved in their care, and
• continue to work with our providers by using both available patient information,
such as the Summary Care Record, and expand it to include additional
information, as well as working towards joining up patient records to support the
best patient care.
We have been the subject of a National Case Study by NHS England highlighting the
work of patient and public participation around record sharing.
Dr John Oates said: “Agreeing to share your health record is one of the best ways of
ensuring that you receive effective and speedy treatment in an emergency, such as
seeing an out of hours doctor or if you are taken to A&E, the health professional
treating you will only have access to your basic information. By consenting to share
additional information potentially vital extra information can be added.”
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Adaptation to climate change
The CCG has developed emergency response plans and procedures to address
climate change and worked to raise awareness among its workforce in preparation for
dealing with climate change related incidents.
Social sustainability
Improving the health of those most in need and promoting self-care are two of the
CCG’s clinical priorities. Social sustainability is taken into account in our planning and
we have started working closely this year with the local county and borough councils
to make this more effective. During the year we have encouraged and supported
patient participation groups to share best practice. Our Communications and
Engagement Team and the volunteers from our Community Engagement Group
continue to make and maintain contacts with the communities we serve.
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Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)
Each September the CCG is required to participate in an annual Emergency

by
which NHS England obtains assurance that NHS funded organisations are
sufficiently able to respond to emergencies.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2019

56. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report 2018/19

Case Studies

Speech, Language and Communication Needs
Listening to concerns from specialist services, parents and carers saw a new way
forward for young people with speech, language and communication needs.
The most vulnerable children and young people that require specialist speech,
language and communication support as part of their package of care or support are
not always able to access this in a timely way or with sufficient levels of support.
Over 18 months, a steering group made up of Suffolk Parent Carer Network,
alongside the two Suffolk CCGs, Suffolk County Council and providers tackled
setting up new ways to access services. By engaging with parents and carers, the
group began to understand where the issues and opportunities could be. Three
parent and carer sessions were held in September 2018 across the county to gain
feedback on the model.
After collating and testing, the clinical commissioning groups were able to agree
more funding in January to pay for more therapists and training for teachers.

A very different conversation
In May 2018 a unique approach to decision-making was set up across east and west
Suffolk to identify the needs of mental health service users. It resulted in a
partnership with Suffolk User Forum, Suffolk Parent Carer Network, Suffolk Family
Carers and Healthwatch Suffolk, along with the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and
NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups, the Norfolk & Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust and Suffolk County Council. This piece of work, titled ‘a very
different conversation’, has had 4,430 direct contacts with members of the public,
received 737 online survey responses and held more than 40 workshop sessions
across the county. A Healthwatch Suffolk report and information provided by Public
Health Suffolk’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) developed a report,
which was then used to develop a strategy. The Mental Health and Emotional
Wellbeing Strategy for east and west Suffolk was agreed in January 2019.
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Annual Health Checks for people with learning disabilities
Young people from the Papworth Trust in Ipswich helped design a set of online
resources aimed at helping over-14s with learning disabilities understand why they
should attend an annual health check. This was an important piece of work for the
CCG to ensure that parents and carers of young people with learning disabilities are
being encouraged to make sure they undergo an annual health check with their GP.
Grab bags
High numbers of people are treated in our emergency departments, some of whom
are hard to reach and vulnerable, do not attend education and those in gangs. We
wanted to find out whether a project from Enfield and Haringey would work here. The
idea of using grab bags was to deliver information about local services and also to
educate. It was part of a bi-borough multiagency project which aimed to target child
sexual exploitation (CSE), gang activity and missing children.
Working with Suffolk’s young people, we received feedback through around 250
surveys and 98 face to face interactions. Some 93% thought grab bags were a good
idea, and suggested ways to make it meaningful and sustainable. The aim of this
initiative is to inform and educate young people on the services available to them for
a range of issues, and to develop Alliance working with stakeholders, health and social
care services. We will use a multi-disciplinary approach to target groups/individuals
that are harder to reach, and to break down barriers to services in the future.
Respiratory Service
Patients with serious breathing problems, called Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disorder (COPD) are frequent users of both GP and hospital services. COPD is one
of the main causes of emergency admissions to hospital, particularly over the winter
months. Since 2014, the CCG has worked with clinical, operational and patient
support. During 2018/19 the CCG has worked with NHS England to empower
patients to help themselves by using a specialist mobile application. It helps people
better understand what is normal for them, covering physical and mental wellbeing.
This has been developed to give people contact details and information of local
support groups, links to smoking cessation, Wellbeing Suffolk, Onelife Suffolk,
Singing Groups, Breatheasy Groups and Living Life to the Full.
Respiratory is a key national priority area for the NHS for the next 10 years with a
focus on:





Earlier and more accurate COPD diagnosis
Improve access to Pulmonary Rehabilitation
Optimise prescribing and Medicine use
Improve detection and care for people with Community Acquired Pneumonia
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Continuing Health Care
The team work directly with patients and their families, which means they continue to
find ways to improve how they communicate.
This year the team received thank yous:
Extract from a thank you received from the son of a patient…
“I wanted to convey our thanks for the way you conducted the meeting. You dealt with
the matter in a very efficient but caring and sensitive manner, taking time to explain in
detail very relevant issue. Any consultation involving my father’s condition is very
stressful and at times distressing, but the way you approached the situation went a long
way in giving us a greater understanding of the process.”

Extract of a thank you from the daughter of a patient…”My father has settled well into
the nursing home over the weekend. Thank you for all of the hard work put into coordinating his care.”
Extract from a thank you letter from the family of a patient assessed as eligible for NHS
CHC funding, where the team facilitated discharge from hospital…
“You offered a huge amount of compassion, support and clear guidance at what was a
quite daunting time for our family and Dad’s carers. Perhaps most importantly of all
though, from our very first conversations it was clear to us that you had Dad’s best
interests at heart and that you would do all you could within your powers to get the best
support for him. It was very comforting to witness you taking the time to get to know and
understand Dad as a person, his existing care support and his needs moving forward as he
enters the next stage of his life at home. I am pleased to say Dad has quickly settled back
in and is enjoying living in the comfort of his own home.”
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Rapid intervention vehicle (RIV) and Early Intervention Team (EIT)
The East of England NHS Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) and West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust worked together on an RIV pilot that ran from October 2018 to
March 2019. The vehicle is crewed by a specialist EEAST clinician and a therapist.
The clinician can treat minor injuries and give medicines such as analgesics and
antibiotics. The therapist from WSFT’s Early Intervention Team (EIT) can provide
equipment, mobility reviews and additional support to keep people safe in their home
(e.g. following a fall). The RIV can also receive referrals from GP surgeries or local
healthcare teams via the Care Co-ordination Centre for patients requiring an urgent
admission prevention response. Over a period of four months 127 ambulance
dispatches were prevented and 89 people avoided being taken to hospital. An
additional 137 referrals were jointly managed by the EIT, keeping people out of
hospital.
RIV case study 1
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

RIV referral via 999 triage as CAT4 call. 80yr lady had fallen from kitchen bar
stool and unable to get up from floor
On arrival family had assisted patient up and to a chair
No injury , obs taken and stable
Patient explained fatigue, SOB and reduced appetite over 4 weeks. Now
struggling with mobility, turning in bed and general ADLS
EIT assessed environment. Advised removal of rugs for falls prevention. Also
advised placement of chairs/furniture to aid energy conservation/rests when
mobilising
EIT ordered equipment to help with shower, bed transfers and a perch stool to
replace bar stool (where fall occurred)
EIT referral to Orbit for review of rails / equipment
EIT referral to Hospice for ongoing support

RIV case study 2
•
•
•
•

RIV referral from GP
Patient prescribed ABX for UTI, after taking first tablet she had an episode
where she was unable to speak and confused.
RIV review with therapist – Obs stable Specialist paramedic changed ABX as
episode likely reaction to ABX
Patient very anxious being home alone. Independent mobility and with ADLS
however did not wish to remain home alone as worried may have another
episode.
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EIT arranged for an overnight carer to support overnight and reassure (felt if
left at home alone patient would continue to call 111 or 999

RIV case study 3
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

RIV referral via Community Nurse
Patient stuck on toilet, Nurse had called 999 but advised ambulance would be
a number of hours
Nurse called EIT and Paramedic took call (CAT3) off 999
Therapist and Paramedic assisted patient up from toilet
Paramedic completed medical assessment. Recent UTI, non-compliant with
anitibiotics for over a week. Paramedic liaised with GP and gave antibiotic and
pain relief during assessment.
Therapist assisted with personal care during visit, assessed mobility and
assisted into bed.
EIT arranged 3 times a day care package (including prompting medication)
and equipment to support mobility. (both in place within the hour)
EIT arranged therapy follow up after a day of antibiotics to progress mobility

Efforts to prevent unnecessary emergency admissions to hospital do not just take
place in the A&E department. The EIT also works in the community to support
patients who hit a health and social crisis that does not require medical treatment in
a hospital. Often the team supports frail elderly or clients with long-term conditions.
The team consists of community nurses, social workers, occupational therapists,
physiotherapists, rehabilitation assistant practitioners, re-ablement support workers
(carers) as well as support workers from Age UK Suffolk and a carer link worker from
Suffolk Family Carers. Together, they provide a ‘one stop shop’ to help people retain
their independence and avoid unnecessary hospital admissions. The team also links
closely with the Dementia Intensive Support Team. Its activity takes place in the
community and it is very much a community facing service.
EIT case study 1


Referred via Social Services Emergency duty service and family. Patient has
a urine infection, on antibiotics and has been sleeping in her armchair. Now
has a sacral pressure sore. Concerns that patient and her husband are not
eating and drinking. Husband has been sleeping on the sofa to support
patient.
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EIT therapy team assessed at home and on first visit practised sit to stand
transfers and transferring onto commode. Encouraged patient and her
husband to eat and drink. Advised patient can transfer onto commode
overnight. Family had visited and provided food. Patient appeared to have lost
confidence mobilising.



EIT therapy team returned in the morning and practised mobility and patient
was able to go upstairs and get into bed.



EIT provided reablement support to work on patient regaining independence
with personal care, mobility and transfers. Tried to establish a routine and
build confidence.



EIT Suffolk Family Carers support worker visited to provide support and
advice to patient’s husband, as he assists with all meals, drinks, cleaning and
general care.



Referred to community therapy team for on- going rehabilitation. Community
team visited a few days after EIT therapy team to continue.



Referred to Social Services and on- going reablement care continued care
started by EIT.

EIT case study 2


Referred via GP. Patient had a fall and now has pain in right arm. Previous
CVA with left sided weakness. Lives with wife and normally independent. GP
had to help patient out of bed.



EIT therapists assessed at home and suggested techniques for transfers.



EIT reablement support workers re- enabled with personal care and practised
bed transfers.



Referred to Social Services for on- going reablement care.

EIT case study 3


Referred via Paramedics. Patient had a fall in the evening and concerns
regarding mobility. Lives alone in sheltered accommodation and normally
independent.

62. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Case Studies continued



Community matron also phoned and had seen patient yesterday. Concerned
that patient has cellulitis, appeared vague and sleepy. Second fall in a day.
GP also visited yesterday.



EIT liaised with GP and stated that EIT therapist and nurse will go out to
assess.



EIT assessment found patient could mobilise and transfer independently.
Declined any care. However, nurse concerned legs red and took bloods.



EIT nurse liaised with GP and bloods showed no improvement to cellulitis.
Antibiotics changed.



EIT telephone follow- up next day and patient reported feeling better than
yesterday.



District nurses and community matron continued to support patient, as
stabilised.
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Discharge to Optimise and Assess (D2A)
D2A case study 1 - Mr Smith, 89 (Pathway 1)
Struggling at home for some time supported by a caring wife, Mr Smith (not his real
name) had become increasingly frail, leading to frequent admissions to hospital and
‘step down care’ to a community assessment bed. His confidence was low and he
was beginning to doubt that returning home would be possible. Before Pathway 1 it
is likely Mr Smith would have been discharged to a community assessment bed
again.
The Support to Go Home and Homefirst teams believed there was potential for Mr
Smith to be cared for at home and encouraged him, with their support, to undertake
an assessment of his needs there. Before going home, he was given the loan of a
hospital bed and wheeled commode for downstairs living as it was clear he would
not manage his stairs.
Based on the assessments on his first day at home Mr Smith’s reablement plan
focused on improving his self-confidence and his mobility around his house,
including using a stair lift to access the shower. Advice and support was given to Mrs
Smith as his main carer.
Within three days Mr and Mrs Smith were making good progress, sleeping better at
night and were less anxious about his catheter.
Within one week of discharge from hospital, all reablement support was withdrawn
and Mr and Mrs Smith were confidently living at home supporting each other.
D2A case study 2 – Mrs Rose, 78 (Pathway 2)
Mrs Rose (not her real name) had previously been living independently at home and
was fairly active, enjoying walks with her husband.
She was transferred to Glastonbury Court (GC) following 29 days at hospital
following an emergency bowel re-section and formation of colostomy. Mrs Rose had
a complicated recovery and although she was medically optimised from surgery was
struggling to regain any form of independence. The occupational therapist
recognised the potential however and referred her to GC on Pathway 2.
Assessment at GC identified a number of significant issues, including lack of
exercise tolerance, fatigue, lack of confidence and total reliance on assistance for
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her stoma care. An individual reablement plan was agreed with an estimated date of
discharge in 17 days.
Daily interventions supporting Mrs Rose to improve physical impairment, activities of
daily living, participation and wellbeing led to her being independently mobile with a
frame and independent with her personal care and stoma on discharge home. Her
confidence grew and she began to put on weight. She subsequently required no
formal care at home but was referred to community therapists to help her with
mobility and stairs at home.
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Social prescribing – Haverhill LifeLink
Case study 1 – Caroline
Caroline was referred to Haverhill LifeLink as she was experiencing low mood and
feeling particularly lonely. She lacked confidence and although in a relationship felt
she needed additional support and social contact.
After talking with Elaine (LifeLink Coordinator), she realised that she wanted to make
friends within her community and wanted to do something where she felt she had a
purpose and was contributing.
Caroline had always been into arts and creative work, but had not practised it since
having her son five years ago. Elaine then found that The Befriending Scheme Hub
was looking for volunteers to help with arts and crafts on Tuesdays. This opportunity
was discussed with Caroline and although feeling anxious she decided to give it a
go.
Elaine went along with Caroline to start with to ease her anxiety. Caroline was soon
busy chatting to the attendees of the hub and getting involved in different craft
activities. She is now able to contribute her own ideas to the sessions and support
attendees of the groups, encouraging different art forms and creative thoughts.
Caroline now feels much happier and more motivated. She is starting to build new
friendships and she has a sense of purpose each week. She is now interested in
joining other groups within the town to develop her creative flair.
Since being with LifeLink she hasn’t needed to go back to her GP.

Case study 2 – Anna
Anna had previously struggled with alcohol addiction and was referred to LifeLink as
she felt isolated and had no friends locally. Her confidence was at an all-time low as
she had been out of work for a couple of years.
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She was introduced to a four-week Moving Towards Work course designed to
improve her confidence and employability skills. Her confidence increased
significantly and the course presented an opportunity to build new relationships. In
addition, Anna felt she wanted to take up craftwork. Charlotte (LifeLink Coordinator)
introduced her to a new craft group in town. This enabled Anna to put her creative
mind to work again, as well as giving her another social setting in which to start
building new relationships.
Anna’s confidence grew so much in a short space of time that when the opportunity
of attending a workshop on the redesign of mental health services came about she
jumped at the chance. The workshop was a mixture of professionals and ‘service
users’ and Anna confidently shared her thoughts with many professionals across
Suffolk.
Anna is now volunteering through Home Start and is still in search of sustainable
employment. She now feels that she is in a much better place, is active within her
community and feels more confident. She also has tools, resources and support at
her fingertips, and says she feels more resilient than ever.
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In partnership with member practices the CCG has developed a strategy to guide the
development of primary care.
The key elements of the strategy include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

developing a new Model of Care to encourage primary care partnership
working and deliver joined up care across Suffolk
reducing workload and optimising patient care
caring for every professional and every patient
improving patient access to GP-led services to support patients and
promote self-care
creating environments for future care needs by enabling digital
connectivity for patients and professionals
stimulating transformation by delivering high impact changes, and
co-producing strategy and plans with clinical leaders, patients, members of
the public and our partners to enable excellence in delivery with
management support.

This strategy has been further developed through our GP Forward View Operational
Plan, which NHS England has rated as “green”.
Every year the CCG takes part in a national ‘360 stakeholder survey’ which is run by
IPSOS Mori. The survey helps the CCG develop internally and improve its
relationships with others. All GP members responded to the survey.
Stakeholders were asked a series of questions about their working relationship with
the CCG. In addition, to reflect their different areas of expertise and knowledge, they
were presented with a short series of questions specific to the stakeholder group
they represented.
Every year the CCG takes part in a national ‘360 stakeholder survey’ which is run by
IPSOS Mori. The survey helps the CCG develop internally and improve its
relationships with others. Twenty three of the twenty four members responded to the
survey.
Stakeholders were asked a series of nine questions about their working relationship
with the CCG.
o

The CCG 360 Stakeholder Survey, which has been conducted since 2013/14,
enables stakeholders to provide feedback about their CCGs. The results of the
survey serve two purposes:
1. Provide CCGs with insight into key areas for improvements in their
relationships with stakeholders and provide information on how stakeholders’
views have changed over time.
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2. Contribute towards NHS England’s statutory responsibility to conduct an
annual assessment of each CCG, through the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework.
Invited to take

Completed

Response

part in survey

survey

rate

24

23

96%

1

0

0%

1

1

100%

2

1

50%

5

5

100%

2

1

50%

7

4

57%

Wider stakeholders

4

4

100%

All stakeholders

46

39

85%

Stakeholder group

GP member practices One from every member
practice*

Health & wellbeing boards Up to two per HWB*

Local Healthwatch Up to three per local
Healthwatch*

Other patient groups and voluntary sector
organisations or representatives Up to eight*

NHS providers Up to two from each acute, mental
health and community health providers*

Other CCGs Up to five*

Upper tier or unitary local authorities Up to five
per local authority*
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Of those stakeholders who responded:
97% reported an effective working relationship with the CCG;
90% felt that the CCG considered the views of patients and the public in its
commissioning decisions;
97% felt that the CCG is effective as a local system leader, i.e. as part of an
Integrated Care System (ICS)/Sustainability and Transformation partnership
(STP)
97% felt the CCG considers the benefits to the whole health and care system
when taking a decision.
While the results of the 2018/19 survey are excellent and improving on a foundation
of previous strong reports we know there is still more to do and will draw up an action
plan to help us deliver further improvements.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2019
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This section sets out details of the member practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.

Angel Hill Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

The Long Melford Practice

Stanton Surgery

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall

Botesdale Health Centre

Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Brandon Medical Practice

Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket

Haverhill Family Practice

Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket

Christmas Maltings & Clements Practice, Haverhill

The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket

Forest Surgery, Brandon

Siam Surgery, Sudbury

Glemsford Surgery

Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Guildhall Surgery, Clare

Reynard Surgery, Mildenhall

Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury

Wickhambrook Surgery

Lakenheath Surgery

Woolpit Health Centre
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Composition of Governing Body

The Governing Body Membership includes nine men and seven women

Dr Ed Garratt, Accountable Officer
Dr Garratt is Accountable Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. He was previously Chief Operating Officer of the NHS
West Suffolk CCG and has worked in the NHS for more than 11 years, both at a regional
level in commissioning and in helping to develop the NHS Constitution. He also worked on
the policy development associated with the government’s NHS reforms of 2012. Dr Garratt
holds a Doctorate from the University of Cambridge.

Dr Christopher Browning, GP Chair
Dr Browning is the Chair of West Suffolk CCG and is a GP appraiser with 11 years experience
in hospital medicine and 14 years as a GP. He has had operational experience in the out-ofhours service and many years’ experience representing his GP colleagues on the Local
Medical Committee.

Dr Zohra Armitage, GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds locality
Dr Armitage is an experienced GP. She has had various clinical and management
responsibilities within
different
practices
and the
CCG. Her
clinical
interests
include adolescent health, sexual health and end of life care. When not at work she is a busy
mum and wife, and enjoys running and reading.

Steve Chicken, Lay Board Member
Steve Chicken joined the CCG’s Governing Body in early 2017 as lay member. He also works
for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in the same capacity. Steve has held senior roles
in global manufacturing businesses and is a specialist in continuous improvement. He and his
wife have lived in Suffolk for 18 years, as do his parents, grown children and grandchild.
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Geoff Dobson, Lay Board Member (Corporate Governance) and Vice
Chair
Geoff Dobson provides strategic and impartial advice on financial management issues to
make sure the CCG meets its statutory guidelines and carries out its work according to
nationally agreed standards. He oversees key aspects of corporate governance including
audit, remuneration and managing conflicts of interest. Geoff worked in local government
finance for more than four decades, most recently as Suffolk County Council’s Director of
Resource Management.

Dr Andrew Hassan, GP and Lead for Blackbourne Locality
Dr Hassan qualified from Sheffield, entered General Practice in 1980 and was a senior
partner at Avicenna surgery in Hopton until retirement from practice in 2015. He has
also served as the Chairman of the Bury St Edmunds PCG, PEC Chair and Board
Member for Suffolk West PCT; Chair of the Individual Funding Panel and Clinical
Priorities Group for the joint management team of the Suffolk CCGs and Medical
Director of NHS Suffolk until 2013.

Amanda Lyes, Chief Corporate Service Officer
Amanda has an NHS career spanning 20 years. Her portfolio encompasses HR, IM&T,
corporate governance and information governance. Her strengths lie in the field of
change management, organisational development and employee relations. She is an
experienced board member having held board level positions in other NHS
organisations. She is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
and holds an MSc in Human Resource Management.
.

Lisa Nobes, Chief Nursing Officer (from April 2018)
Lisa is the Chief Nursing Officer for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk CCGs. She started her nursing career at West Suffolk Hospital 29 years ago
and moved to Manchester to train and practise as a children’s nurse at the Royal
Manchester Children’s Hospital before relocating back to Suffolk to work at the East
Anglia Children’s Hospice. She enjoyed working at both the hospice site and providing
care to children at the end of their lives in their homes. She left EACH to become a
Lecturer in Children’s Nursing and then a Senior Lecturer in Service Improvement,
teaching service improvement methodologies to under and post-graduate health
students. She has worked in the acute sector at both West Suffolk Hospital and Ipswich
Hospital in senior nurse leadership posts, most recently as Director of Nursing at
Ipswich Hospital before taking up the CNO role in the Suffolk CCGs. Her academic
background is in psychology, inter-professional healthcare education and health
psychology and she has recently been appointed as Senior Visiting fellow at University
of Suffolk.

She is interested in co-production of services with users and families and
is keen
work with
the wider Group
Suffolk
community
understand how
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Jane Payling, Chief Finance Officer
Jane is the Chief Finance Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. She previously worked at CIPFA (Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) as Head of Health and Integration. This
followed 10 years as Director of Finance at Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
where Jane was part of the team which secured the go ahead for the New Papworth
Hospital. She joined the NHS in 1992, and has worked in a variety of NHS roles across
East Anglia.

Dr Godfrey Reynolds, GP and Lead for Forest Heath locality
Dr Reynolds is Senior Partner at the Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall, where he has
worked as a GP for 30 years. He qualified from Birmingham University Medical School
in 1983 after training spells in Africa and the United States and worked in hospitals in the
West Midlands for five years before entering general practice. He has been a member
of Suffolk Local Medical Committee for 25 years and was its Chair from 2010 to 2016. He
has interests in forensic medicine and psychiatry. He has been Chair of the Mildenhall
Sick and Poor Fund Charity for 30 years.

Dr Bahram Talebpour, GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury locality
Dr Talebpour has been a GP in Sudbury since 2012, and has been on the Governing
Body since 2016. He leads on Planned Care for the CCG.

Lynda Tuck, Lay Board Member (Patient and Public Engagement)
(from June 2018)
Lynda joined the CCG’s Governing Body in 2018. Her role is to ensure the patient and
public voice is listened to and remains integral to the decision-making of the governing
body. Lynda has enjoyed an extensive career in health care, both in delivering frontline
services and in an educational setting. She began her career as a nurse and midwife
followed by an appointment as Associate Dean (Health) at Bedfordshire University, with
responsibility for nursing and midwifery programmes. Latterly, Lynda held senior posts
at Bedford Hospital NHS Trust, including Associate Director of Operations, building a
well-deserved reputation for her focus on improving services for patients through
training, innovation and partnership working.
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Kate Vaughton, Chief Operating Officer
Kate joined the NHS in September 2001 and has gained extensive knowledge from
working across various NHS organisations. Prior to joining WSCCG Kate was working at
NHS North East Essex CCG as Chief Operating Officer playing an active role as a board
member contributing to the development of the vision, aims and business objectives of
the CCG.

Dr Firas Watfeh, GP and Lead for Haverhill locality
Dr Watfeh is a GP partner at The Haverhill Family Practice. He is the GP lead for
prescribing and has a keen interest in dermatology. He represents his GP colleagues on
the LMC Board.

Richard Watson, Deputy Chief Officer/Chief Transformation Officer
Richard has worked across the NHS and local government in a variety of roles, most
recently at NHS Enfield CCG where he led on the redesign of clinical services. He has
also been an elected local councillor and cabinet member within a London borough where
he led on community safety, leisure and libraries. He is passionate about improving
outcomes and managing complex service redesign in partnership with other
stakeholders.

Jane Webster, Acting Chief Contracts Officer (from November 2017)
Jane’s career in the NHS commenced in 1981 when she trained as a nurse in Norfolk.
She remained in clinical roles within the NHS, specialising in complex brain injury, later
becoming the clinical lead for continuing care in Norfolk. Her interest in commissioning
arose with the launch of primary care trusts and the development of ‘world class
commissioning’. After completing a masters in commissioning and contracting, Jane has
worked for both providers and clinical commissioning groups. Her mantra to counter
views that contracting is technical and complex is: `Contracting is easy, you just need to
remember to keep talking`.
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Key Committees
Clinical Scrutiny Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning (Chair)
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Andrew Hassan – resigned as a Governing Body member from August 2018 now
employed as an Enhanced Associate GP
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds –Governing Body member from September 2018
Dr Jep Ronoh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Jane Webster
Commissioning Governance Committee
Dr Ed Garratt
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck
Jane Webster
Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee
Dr Christopher Browning (reserve member)
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Lynda Tuck

CCG Collaborative (Committee of West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG)
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf
Dr Mark Shenton
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Financial Performance Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Andrew Hassan – resigned as a Governing Body member from August 2018 now
employed as an Enhanced Associate GP
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds – Governing Body member from September 2018
Dr Jep Ronoh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Jane Webster
Community Engagement Group
David Taylor (Chair)
Lynda Tuck (Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement)
Jane Ballard (VCS)
Lynne Byrne – from June 2018
Terry Clements – from June 2018
Christine Davies
David Dawson
Gill Jones (Healthwatch)
Nicola Mann
Carol Mansell
Chrissy Marshall - resigned October 2018
Margaret Marks
Graeme Norris
Barbara Pooley – from June 2018
Jon Rapley
Michael Simpkin
Paule Wise – from June 2018
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Audit Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
The following attend the Audit Committee:





Representatives from Finance
Representatives from External Audit
Representatives from Internal Audit
Representatives from Counter Fraud

Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck (Chair)
Kate Vaughton
Jane Webster
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Register of Interests 2018/19
The Register of Interests document can be found on the NHS West Suffolk CCG
website HERE.

Personal data related incidents
There were no Serious Untoward Incidents (SUIs) relating to data security breaches,
and therefore none reported to the Information Commissioner (ICO).

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes
of their audit report



the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS West Suffolk CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate
modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for
producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
The CCG has nonetheless chosen to produce a statement, which can be found on
its website, HERE.

80. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2018/19

Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
continued

External Audit and Complaints
External Audit
The CCG’s external auditor is Ernst and Young and the cost of services provided by
them in 2018/19 was £65,628. Work undertaken was purely in the provision of
statutory audit services.
Principles for Remedy
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman has issued six Principles for
Remedy when handling complaints.
These principles set out for complainants and bodies within the Parliamentary and
Health Ombudsman’s jurisdiction how they think public bodies should put things
right when they have gone wrong - as well as its approach to recommending
remedies.
The Principles for Remedy are:
1. Getting it right.
2. Being customer focused.
3. Being open and accountable.
4. Acting fairly and proportionately.
5. Putting things right.
6. Seeking continuous improvement.
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Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS)
Complaints and Compliments
The Patient Experience Team is responsible for the oversight of complaints and
compliments. This includes issues raised by GP practices in the GP contract issues
log as well as issues raised through the PALS.
Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 the team received a total of 382 complaints,
170 of which related to West Suffolk CCG. Of these complaints, 23 were later closed
due to consent not being received. The CCG’s target response timescale for
responding to complaints is 25 working days. However, in cases where the timescale
cannot be met, a revised timescale is agreed.
Six complaints were received during 2018/19 that were referred to the Parliamentary
and Health Service Ombudsman.
There were 54 letters received from MPs relating to both CCGs, 22 of which related
to West Suffolk CCG.
PALS
PALS provides information and advice on NHS services, non-emergency hospital
transport and community health services within Suffolk.
The main aim of PALS is to resolve problems and concerns for people using NHS
services before they become a major issue. It also acts as an early warning system by
monitoring and highlighting any problems or gaps in service provision.
The total number of contacts between patients and the PALS service in 2018/19 was
1,549. This included 406 relating to West Suffolk CCG patients.
The main themes prompting contacts included changes to items available on
prescription and issues around the non-emergency patient transport service.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Accountable Officer to be the Accountable Officer West Suffolk CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of
the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).









Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual, taking account of the
application guidance contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual, and in particular to:



Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
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State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the
Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, taking
account of the application guidance contained in the Department of Health
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report
and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that West Suffolk
auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2019
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West Suffolk CCG - Governance Statement 2018-19
Introduction and Context
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for
the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange
for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under
Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The Governance Framework of the CCG is the system by which the CCG is directed and
controlled in order to achieve its objectives and meet the necessary standards of
accountability and probity. Effective corporate governance, along with clinical governance,
is essential for a CCG to achieve its clinical, quality and financial objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the CCG operates. It is a statutory
requirement that the CCG Governing Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of
reservation and delegation of powers, and the financial framework within which the
organisation operates. These key documents comprise the CCG’s corporate governance
arrangements and include:


The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance



The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance
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The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal governance

It is essential that the public and all employees are aware of these documents and that
employees understand their responsibilities as set out within. They are therefore reviewed,
updated and approved each year at a meeting of the Governing Body in public and made
available on the CCG web site and intranet.
The CCG’s Membership Body includes 24 member practices. These are listed on Page 72.
The CCG’s Governing Body includes 5 GPs elected by their peers, a secondary care doctor
a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient and public involvement, a third
general lay member, an Accountable Officer, a Chief Nursing Officer and a Chief Finance
Officer. The Governing Body also includes 4 non-voting Chief Officers.
Governing Body meetings focus on strategy, clinical and service development, finance,
performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:


West Suffolk Alliance Strategy



Sustainability Transformation Partnership and Integrated Care System Development



Integrated Urgent Care Services



Mental Health Services



Winter Planning



Commissioning Intentions for 2019-20



Budget for 2019-20



Operational Plans for 2019-20 and 2020-21



East of England Ambulance Services



Brexit Preparedness

Given the dynamic environment within which CCGs operate even the most experienced
Governing Body Members benefit from on-going training and support. New Members also
need induction and training, allowing them to understand their role and the organisations
governance processes. As such, the CCG provides Governing Body Members with regular
training opportunities, with particular focus on scrutiny and challenge. This ensures the
Governing Body is effective in the discharge of its duties,
The table below shows the Governing Body attendance for 2018-19:
West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body – 2018-19
Governing Body Member
Armitage Zohra

25 Apr 18

23 May 18
(Part one and two)

25 Jul 18
(Part one and two)

26 Sept 18

(Part Two)

28 Nov 18
(Part one and two)

23 Jan 19

27 Mar 19

(Part one and two)

(Part one and two)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)
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Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part One Only

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris

Yes

(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Lyes Amanda

Yes

Part One only

Part One Only

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

Nobes Lisa
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Reynolds Godfrey
(GP Member)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement)

Vaughton Kate

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part One only

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Part One only

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Consultant in Public Health Medicine
Vacant Practice Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post - GP

The formal sub-committees established by the CCG Governing Body include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit
statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent assurances,
prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The mechanisms for identifying and managing key risks facing the organisation
through the operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF); and
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The policies and procedures for prevention, detection and management of work
related fraud and corruption as set out in Secretary of State Directions and as
required by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority.

(iii)

Highlights of the Committee’s work included consideration and oversight of:


The work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit and Counter Fraud



The organisation’s approach to data/cyber Security & General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR)



Risk Management



Personal Health Budgets



Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Service Procurement



Criminal Finance Act

Internal Audit reported on a variety of items, which are discussed in the Head of Internal Audit
opinion (Page 105).
Audit Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2018-19
Audit Committee Member

Chicken Steve

3 Apr 18
(Inquorate)

21 May 18

5 Jun 18

31 Jul 18

04 Dec 18

05 Feb 19

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Acting
Chief
Finance Officer
Head
of
Accounting and
Control
Governance
Advisor

External Audit
Chief
Finance
Officer
Head
of
Accounting and
Control

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief
Finance
Officer
Governance
Advisor
Risk Manager

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief
Finance
Officer
Chief
Nursing
Officer
Head of ICT
Risk Manager
Head
of
Accounting and
Control
Governance
Advisor

Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief
Finance
Officer
Acting
Deputy
Chief
Finance
Officer
Chief Corporate
Services Officer
Governance
Advisor

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Acting Deputy
Chief
Finance
Officer
Financial
Accounting
Manager
Project
Accountant
Head of ICT and
Informatics

(Extrarodinary)
(Inquorate)

(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff - Chair
(Lay Member for Governance)

Vacant Post
(Governing Body Member)

Vacant Post - Reserve
(Governing Body Member)

Others in attendance to advise:

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
(i)

Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and terms of
service for the CCG’s Accountable Officer, Chief Officers and senior managers.

(ii)

Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on all
aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Chief Officers’ and senior managers’
remuneration (within the provisions of relevant national frameworks), provisions
for other benefits and other contractual terms.
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(iii)

Advise on all Human Resources policies, and procedures and issues that may
impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.

(iv)

Advise on all matters of health and safety.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Monitoring workforce information including recruitment, vacancies, sickness
and organisational structure



Health and Safety/Risk Management



Personal Development Plan (PDP) Processes



Gender Pay reporting



Progress with re-accreditation for Investors in People



Brexit planning

Remuneration and HR Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2018-19
Remuneration
&
Committee Member

HR

Dobson Geoff - Chair

10 April 18

12 Jun 18

23 Oct 18

18 Dec 18
(Virtual)

12 Feb 19

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chief
Corporate
Services Officer

Chief
Corporate
Services Officer

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

(Inquorate)

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Reserve
Christopher

Browning

Yes

(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Others in attendance to
advise:

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the CCG has
the necessary clinical governance arrangements in place to meet its objectives.

(iii)

Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes, utilising
clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities and public/patient
involvement.

(iv)

Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient safety are
of the highest priority.

Clinical Scrutiny Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2018-19
Clinical Scrutiny
Committee Member

25 Apr 18

16 May 18

20 Jun 18

24 Oct 18
(Inquorate)

19 Dec 18

27 Feb 19

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

(GP Member)
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Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Hassan Andrew
(Enhanced Associate GP)

Hooper Chris

Yes

(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Lyes Amanda

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

Nobes Lisa
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Reynolds Godfrey
(GP Member)

Ronoh Jep

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Consultant in Public Health)

Talebpour Bahram
(GP Member)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement)

Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post - GP

The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision-making powers, for approval of commissioning
intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and the
general public that the CCG has the necessary governance arrangements in place to
manage conflict of interest with regard to the procurement of services provided by GP
practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of GP
services.
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(iv) Demonstrate that the CCG and member practices are acting fairly and transparently,
and that final commissioning decisions are made in ways that preserve the integrity of
the decision making process.
Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG -2018-19
Committee Member

16 May 18

20 Jun 18

25 Jul 18

22 Aug 18

26 Sept 18 21 Nov 18

23 Jan 19

27 Mar 19

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff - Chair

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Watson Richard

Yes

(Deputy Chief Officer)

Vacant Post
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Finance Officer)

Game Mark

Yes

(Acting Deputy Chief Finance Officer)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member
Engagement)

for

Patient

and

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Public

Webster Jane

Yes

Yes

(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established in accordance with statutory
provisions to enable the members to make collective decisions on the review, planning and
procurement of primary care services in West Suffolk, under delegated authority from NHS
England.
West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee – 2018-19
Committee Member

23 May 18

25 Jul 18

30 Aug 18

(Part one and
two)

(Part one and
two)

(Virtual)

25 Sept 18

28 Nov 18
(Part
two)

Bhagwat Ameeta
(Head of Financial
Management Accts)

21 Nov 18

one

and

22 Jan 19

27 Mar 19

(Part one and
two)

(Part one and
two)

Yes
Planning

and

Chicken Steve

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Vacant Post
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Tuck Lynda - Chair
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Webster Jane

Yes

Acting (Chief Contracts Officer)
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Vaughton Kate

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

One Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

(Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Voting Members
Browning Christopher Dr
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

Part
only

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Health and Wellbeing Board No
Representative

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Observer)

(Observer)

LMC Representative
(Observer)

NHS England Representative

Yes

(NHS England Representative)

The Financial Performance Committee
The purpose of the Financial Performance Committee is to:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)

Establish a financial performance framework which enables the CCG to proactively
manage its financial, performance and quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
(QIPP) agenda
Provide assurance about financial performance to the Governing Body by reviewing
and scrutinising performance reports and remedial action plans in detail prior to
submission to Governing Body meetings
Ensure that the CCG operates within agreed budgets and proposing plans and
necessary actions to maintain financial balance
Demonstrate the achievement of value for money and provide confidence to the
Governing Body and wider public that the CCGs resources are being used effectively
and efficiently
Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the delivery of effective financial
and performance management
Hold to account the relevant Chief Officers and appropriate GPs for delivery of agreed
plans within their areas of responsibility

Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2018-19
Committee Member

18 Apr 18

20 Jun 18

18 Jul 18

18 Sept 18

17 Oct 18

21 Nov 18

19 Dec 18

16 Jan 19

27 Feb 19

20 Mar 19

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve - Chair
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay
Member
Governance)
Garratt Ed

for

(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)
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Lyes Amanda

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

Nobes Lisa
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)
Reynolds Godfrey
(GP Member)

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vaughton Kate

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post - GP

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code in
respect of leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be relevant to the
Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
Arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework have been developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
During the course of 2018-19, the organisation's processes for effective risk management
were managed in line with the CCG Risk Management Strategy and Organisational
Framework 2016-2019 and the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
The Chief Corporate Services Officer is the designated lead for overseeing the day-to-day
coordination of risk management reporting arrangements, including training and is a resource
for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor supports Chief Officers, Heads of
Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all identified risk and incident data.
As the designated lead, the Chief Corporate Services Officer works in partnership with:


The Risk Manager who acts as the CCG’s ‘Competent Person’



The Chief Nursing Officer with respect to risk management requirements set out in the
Care Quality Commission standards, and



The Information Governance Lead and Data Protection Officer

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and delivering
services across the commissioning cycle. They ensure a clearly defined culture of equality
across the CCG’s activities.
Risk Assessment
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the CCG with a simple but
comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of risk. Through the GBAF
the Governing Body gains assurance from the Chief Officers that all risks are being
appropriately managed throughout the organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because of
inadequacies in the operation of controls, or assurance over their function. . It encompasses
the control of risk; providing structured assurances about where risks are being managed,
and ensuring that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body to
determine how to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues identified,
in order to continuously improve the quality and safety of healthcare commissioning.
The likelihood and consequences of all risks on the CCG Risk Register are assessed against
an agreed 5x5 risk matrix, to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process. Risks of
sufficient concern to the organisation as a whole inform the Governing Body agenda and are
assessed for migration to the GBAF. The management of risks differs according to their
likelihood and consequence, and the risk matrix allows priorities to be assigned for remedial
action, and assessment of whether risks should be accepted. This system is also used to
review how well the agreed controls are operating.
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The risk rating matrix used:

Likelihood score →

5:

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Almost
Certain

Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also assigns
priorities for remedial action, and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings. In terms of
evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within the following
classifications:
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RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

 There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
 Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
 Controls are in place but external forces may
be preventing progress.

 There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
 Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
 Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
 If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially effective the
cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.
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Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the CCG and the actions taken to eliminate or
mitigate them have included:
Mental Health
The CCG’s main mental health provider is the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust, which
has had inadequate CQC ratings. As such, the CCG holds risks around the capacity of NSFT
to discharge its service adequately, and the consequent potential risk to patients (GBAF
Risks 27a and 27b). The CCG is working closely with the trust, with additional controls
including a joint quality assurance process, where every service line will be reviewed. Further
changes include a new Chair of the Trust being appointed, additional funding for Early
Intervention in Psychosis and Eating Disorder Services, the production and action of recovery
action plans and regular attendance of the CCG and NHS Improvement at stakeholder
meetings to challenge the Trust on its delivery of quality improvements.
Acute Care
West Suffolk Foundation Trust is missing a number of national targets, including their 18
week wait referral to treatment target, their two week wait to initial consultation cancer target,
and their 61-day referral to initial treatment cancer target (GBAF Risks 33, 46 and 45). The
CCG has produced data tables showing actual results in relation to the targets, which are
available on Page 47 of this annual report. In order to work with the Trust towards meeting
these targets, the CCG has introduced review meetings where performance can be analysed.
Additionally, an escalation process has been established for the cancer targets, to prevent
and reduce breaches. A model to reduce referral to treatment times has also been developed
and introduced.
West Suffolk Foundation Trust has also missed its 95% 4 hour A&E target (GBAF Risk 37),
which presents a potential risk to patient safety and experience. In order to support the Trust
in improving their performance, the CCG has worked with them to ensure GP streaming is in
place, and that 111 targets are in place to avoid inappropriate A&E referrals. Additionally,
admission avoidance schemes are fully operational, and out-of-hours cover and 111 support
is continually reviewed to ensure the rotas in place can manage surges.
Urgent Care and Ambulance Services
EEAST has been struggling to cope with demand for its services, and has been missing
ambulance response targets. (GBAF Risks 39 and 40) Both these may result in a risk to
patient safety, and are being monitored by the CCG on their GBAF. The CCG is working
closely with the trust, whose interim CEO has performance improvement as a top priority.
Regular performance reviews, clear KPIs and a robust serious incident procedure are
maintained, to make sure the CCG remains aware of the service’s progression. Action has
been taken across the system to reduce handover delays, and thus free up the ambulance
service to respond more effectively to new calls.
A further risk facing the CCG is in relation to provision of its 111 service (GBAF Risk 44). The
service is failing the contract target for calls to be answered in 60 seconds. In order to combat
this, a recovery plan has been created, with regular updates from its provider, Care UK.
Earlier in the year, the CCG held the risk of a failure to redesign its urgent care services within
the required timescale on its GBAF (GBAF Risk 20). During the year, it was concluded that
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the controls to prevent this were now operating effectively, and as such the risk was removed
from the GBAF in December 2018 and is managed at the Risk Register level instead.
Other Clinical Risks
Significant issues were identified with the blood transfusion service at West Suffolk Hospital,
which is now run by North East Essex and Suffolk Pathology Services (NEESPS) (previously
Transforming Pathology Partnership (TPP) to May 17) during a Medicines and Healthcare
products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) inspection in Jan 2017 (GBAF Risk 34). NEESPS have
developed a transformation plan to improve the service, and WSFT trust have developed an
improvement plan which has been submitted to the MHRA for review. Additionally, the CCG
has a process to ensure it reviews any incident leading to a serious patient safety risk.
Risks of failing to comply with SEND reforms, failure to meet statutory duties to safeguard
adults and children and the issues with a backlog of deprivation of liberty safeguards which
required Court of Protection approval are also held by the CCG (GBAF risks 35 and 36). A
variety of mechanisms are in place to reduce the risks around these, which include increased
hours for the Children in Care Designated Nurse in relation to safeguarding, a register of
patients requiring Court of Protection applications which is regularly monitored and reviewed
and a programme of transformation which has been introduced for Children’s and Young
People’s services. By the end of the year, a Children in Care Designated Doctor had been
recruited, reducing the safeguarding risk sufficiently that risk 36 was removed from the GBAF
and will be monitored within the directorate instead.
A final clinical risk is in relation to the significant reduction in capacity of GP services at
Haverhill, and the potential impact on access times for patients and demand for other
services. In order to mitigate this risk, there are regular meetings with the CCG and with the
GP Federation, and the vulnerable practices funds and resilience funds are also being
utilised.
Other Risks
One risk the CCG holds on its GBAF is the risk of a cyber security incident leading to
widespread system outages (GBAF risk 42). This could result in a lack of access to records
and services. To reduce the likelihood of this an external audit of the CCG’s IT capabilities
has been completed, and there is a joint digital and IT services board meeting every other
month, and the Audit Committee monitors work to reduce the risk.
The CCG also holds a risk of the UK leaving the EU in a “no deal” scenario (GBAF Risk 43),
and the impact on NHS service provision this may have. The CCG has engaged with NHS
England, including with their full incident co-ordination centre, providers and GPs, and the
Chief Officers Team regularly monitor any developments. The CCG also holds an EU Exit
Action log to ensure all relevant actions for commissioners are completed.
The CCG held a risk of failure to achieve financial balance (GBAF Risk 2), however this risk
has been brought under control through measures including, but not limited to, close
monitoring of the delivery of QIPP initiatives through KPI’s, active scrutiny and challenge of
specialist costs through meetings with the Specialised Commissioning Team, Clinical
Executive and Governing Body review of expenditure and significant investments and finally,
guaranteed contract values agreed with ESNEFT and WSFT. The likelihood of this risk
occurring has thus been reduced, and as such the risk is now being managed within the full
CCG risk register, rather than on the GBAF (removed Nov 2018).
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over the
course of the year as follows:
Risk No

Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

2

10▼

10►

10►

10►

10►

10►

10►

Removed

20

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

27a

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

20▲

27b

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

33

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

12►

16▲

16►

16►

16►

34

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

35

15►

15►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

20▲

36

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

8▼

8►

Removed

37

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

38

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

39

20►

20►

16▼

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

40

20►

20►

16▼

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

20

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

16

16►

16►

16►

16►

44

12

12►

12►

45

16

16►

16►

46

16

16►

16►

41
42
43

Dec-18
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None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the CCG licence. In addition, the
Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings thus ensuring a high degree
of rigour over the CCG’s performance.

Capacity to Handle Risk
All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective
running of any organisation. The CCG therefore ensures that decisions made on
behalf of the organisation are taken with due consideration to the management of
risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and
people it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective; focused on key risks
and driving the delivery of the organisation’s objectives. The Governing Body must
also demonstrate that it has been properly informed, that it is aware of the totality of
risk facing the organisation, and that it has made decisions on the management of that
risk based on all of the available evidence. The CCG’s risk and control mechanism is
described diagrammatically below:

The GBAF is built around the Risk Register, from which the relevant strategic risks are
drawn. At each Governing Body meeting, the top risks from each directorate are
presented, allowing the Governing Body to effectively assess whether they would like
risks currently held at a lower level to be migrated to the GBAF.
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Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the CCG and relevant reports
are recorded within the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Chief Officers and
reviewed by the Governing Body (in public), the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the
Audit Committee at each of their meetings.
Risks arising from the CGG’s daily operations can result in less than optimum quality
of service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations, accidents and injuries, or
adverse publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring and the potential extent of
their impact depend on the CCG’s practices, processes and culture, as well as external
influences.
A key aim of the CCG’s risk management arrangements is the continued reduction of
risk through the involvement of staff at all levels of the organisation. Supporting this,
anybody who identifies a risk can report their concerns to their line manager, a Chief
Officer or by submitting a completed Risk Report Form.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG
to ensure it delivers its objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. How we achieve this is described in the preceding
sections.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs requires
CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To
support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit
framework.
The third annual audit was undertaken in February 2019 with an overall assurance
assessment of reasonable assurance. There were two important and three routine
action points arising from the audit, the majority of which have already been
addressed.
Data Security
Data security risks are reported through the Information Governance Lead to the Chief
Corporate Services Officer. The CCG’s Information Governance Group that reports
to the Audit Committee monitors a detailed action plan, linked to the requirements of
the
NHS
Digital
Data
Security
and
Protection Toolkit
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(DSPT). Overall standard compliance has been achieved for all of the toolkit
requirements. The CCG is aware of the increased risk from so called Cyber Security
attacks and has included this on the GBAF. This risk is discussed on Page 99.
Information Governance
The NHS Digital Data Security and Information Governance Framework sets the
processes and procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and
employees, in particular personal identifiable information, and gives assurance against
the 10 Data Security Standards. It is supported by a Data Security and
Protection toolkit, and an annual submission provides assurance to the, and others s
that personal information is dealt with appropriately.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems in place to protect patient and corporate information. All staff are required to
undertake annual information governance training, we have established an
information governance management framework, as well as processes and
procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection toolkit. These include
processes for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. Our
procedures have embedded an information risk management culture throughout the
organisation.
Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Quality assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The CCG
ensures as part of its quality assurance that the appropriate governance is applied to
its business critical models and that NHS quality assurance guidelines and checklists
are also applied.

Control Issues
The CCG is not aware of any current significant control issues that would potentially:
 Prejudice the achievement of priorities or undermine the integrity or reputation
of the CCG and/or wider NHS
 Put delivery of the standards expected of the Accounting Officer at risk
 Make it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, or divert resources
from another significant aspect of the business
 Have a material impact on the accounts
 Put national security of data integrity at risk.

Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources
The CCG has systems and processes for managing its resources including the
following:


Standing Orders.
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Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Financial Policies.
Strict controls on vacancy management, recruitment and use of agency staff
Devolved budget management throughout the CCG.
QIPP Delivery

The Governing Body gains assurance on the delivery of its financial duties from the
Financial Performance Committee on a monthly basis following their review of detailed
financial information including financial planning and QIPP delivery. The Programme
Management Office (PMO) also provides a monthly report to the Financial
Performance Committee.
A monthly Integrated Performance Report is submitted to the Governing Body and
Clinical Scrutiny Committee, and provides performance updates on Constitutional
Standards, Clinical Quality and Patient Safety, Contractual Performance, Redesign
programmes and the Programme Management Office.
Assurance is also provided to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee, which
receives regular reports from both Internal and External Audit to ensure that controls
are operating effectively and to advise on areas for improvement. The internal audit
plan has been designed to deliver assurance against constitutional duties and give
useful insight into any gaps in controls.

Delegation of Functions
The CCG has not delegated any of its functions.

Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG is required, under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in
accordance with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for
Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter
fraud measures are in place.
There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported
by the accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual work plan was
monitored by the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit Committee.
Counter fraud material was disseminated to staff regularly, including a Fraud Stop
Newsletter which was distributed via the intranet, and staff and GP newsletters. The
LCFS issued Crime Bulletins and various Fraud Alerts during 2018/19 relating to
subjects such as marketplace fraud, fake endorsements, NHS suppliers suspected
fraudulent emails, and the increase in and evolution of phishing emails. These are
ongoing fraud issues nationally within the NHS. Online Fraud, Corruption and Bribery
Act awareness training was issued to all CCG staff.
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The LCFS input to the review of six policies and procedures, to ensure that the policies
were up-to-date and accurate. These were the Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption
Policy, the Anti-Bribery Policy, the Whistle Blowing and Public Disclosures Policy, the
Standards of Business Conducts and Conflicts of Interest Policy, the Managing
Complaints and Compliments Policy and the Personal Health Budget (PHB)
Agreement. Policies are reviewed in line with current legislation, from a best practice
and counter fraud perspective.
The LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committee regularly to provide progress reports and
updates, as well as providing an annual NHS CFA Self-Review Assessment against
each of the Standards for Commissioners. Appropriate action would be taken
regarding any NHS CFA quality assurance recommendations.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA) on the Effectiveness of the
System of Internal Control for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available
to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Board’s own
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This
Opinion will in turn assist the Board in the completion of its Annual Governance
Statement (AGS).
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion; and
3. Commentary.

1. My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However,
some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put
the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
2. The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
i.

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes; and

ii.

An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based
audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that
have been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken
account of the relative materiality of these areas and management’s
progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.
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Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but
are not required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being
placed upon Third Party Assurances.
3. Commentary – see Annex A for a summary of completed internal audit work.

Actual against planned Internal Audit Work 2018/19 (Annex A)

Summary of Limited Assurance Report (Annex B)
Reports where “Limited” or “No” assurance opinion has been supplied are
summarised below:
Personal Health Budgets


The Personal Health Budget and Integrated Personal Budget Policy has passed
its review date, and PHB information on the CCGs' websites is out of date.



Testing found many gaps in key documentation, including support plans, PHB
agreements and authorisation for packages.



PHB reviews to identify whether patients are meeting their identified outcomes
could not be found on file for patients in the audit sample.



Annual financial reviews are undertaken, but only the last three months'
financial information is requested meaning the full year is not checked.



The current staff responsible for PHBs took on this role in summer 2017 and
are working to address the issues raised in this report, and the team is due to
be expanded to assist this.

The recommendations from this report were followed up in a subsequent audit, which
found that nine out of the 11 recommendations made had been successfully
implemented.
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Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control within the CCG.
My review was informed in a number of ways:
 Chief Officers within the organisation who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the system of internal control provided me
with assurance


The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have
been reviewed



The work of Governing Body committees, particularly the Audit Committee,
which scrutinises and challenges governance and risk activities and seeks
assurances on the effectiveness of controls



The Clinical Scrutiny Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body,
provides strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring
effective clinical engagement, utilising clinician’s knowledge of local
communities and public and patient involvement



The work of the Chief Nursing Officers team in carrying out quality visits,
inspections and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks



Contract meetings with providers which hold them to account for the quality of
the services commissioned



The Health & Safety and Risk Committee reviews health & safety risks and
ensures the health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting
the premises



The Information Governance (IG) Committee reviews information governance
risks and issues, including data losses, IT security, the CCG’s obligations under
the General Data Protection Regulations 2018 and progress with the IG Toolkit
assessment, action plan and submission. The latter is also monitored by the
Audit Committee.



The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality
Commission - their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and
governance of our provider organisations and services and help triangulate
local information.



The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.
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The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious
incidents and robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are
put into practice and risk mitigated.



Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to
which governance and risk management supports the achievement of the
organisation’s objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS
Internal Audit Standards, is required to provide an annual opinion of the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control,
covering the whole financial year. For 2018-19 the opinion stated that
reasonable assurance could be given, as a generally sound system of internal
control is in place, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and controls
are generally being applied consistently and effectively, with only minor areas
for improvement identified.



Within the CCG information risk management forms part of the wider
information governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests with me as Chief
Officer and I am supported by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), a
member of the Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported on a daily basis
by the Information Governance and Risk Manager who has responsibility for
following up on issues in this area.



An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff
from all areas, meets every quarter. This group discusses all information related
issues and makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group
provides updates into the Audit Committee on a regular basis. To support this,
the CCG has approved a number of polices including Information Governance
Policy, IT Security Policy and a Data Protection Policy, which guide staff on
their responsibilities.

Conclusion
The Governance Statement highlights the CCG’s key governance issues for 2018-19.
One of the CCG’s key priorities is to improve access to mental health services across
Suffolk. Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) is the main provider of
mental health services commissioned by the CCG. A Care Quality Commission (CQC)
inspection report highlighted serious concerns in service quality and rated the Trust
inadequate overall in 2015, with the rating remaining inadequate at a follow up
inspection in 2018. The CCG has therefore continued to work closely with the Trust
during 2018-19 to ensure it delivers the required quality improvements. At its meeting
in March 2018, the CCG approved the launch of a new programme of work to refresh
and redesign the east and west Suffolk Mental Health model of care. System wide
conversations were undertaken to deliver a refreshed needs assessment; a mental
health model based on system wide engagement and commissioning options with an
update to the Mentally Healthy Communities Board in August 2018 and a full mental
health report presented to the CCG’s Governing Body in November 2018.
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2018/19 had been a year of significant change both nationally and locally with
publication of the ten-year national NHS plan in December 2018. Major developments
locally included the merger of Ipswich and Colchester Hospitals to form East Suffolk
and North Essex Foundation Trust (ESNEFT) from July 2018.
The CCG has continued to transform health and care services as part of the Suffolk
and North East Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) in 2018
The STP has now been in place for a number of years and is at the forefront of
Integrated Care System (ICS) development. It has now been identified as a second
wave ICS from April 2019. The ICS includes a broad spectrum of equal partners where
the seven principles of public life unite them all.
With support from the Kings Fund, a Panel was established, which produced an initial
document setting out a roadmap for the future. The document takes into account the
need for a long-term plan and recognises that the statutory Health and Wellbeing
Boards and ICS need to be aligned. A key element of ICS development in 2018-19
has been consideration of the necessary governance arrangements, and developing
system working which focuses on collective rather than strategic commissioning going
forward. Important forthcoming landmarks include the imminent appointment of both
a Joint Accountable Officer for the three CCGs and an independent ICS Chair,
together with the establishment of the Partnership Board.
During 2018-19, the CCG also approved the West Suffolk Alliance Strategy. The fiveyear strategy was developed by the West Suffolk Alliance constituents, including West
Suffolk Hospital, Suffolk County Council, Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust and
Suffolk GP Federation, working with CCG and wider public and voluntary sector
partners. The Alliance is one of three within the Suffolk and North East Essex STP,
with Alliances also in West Suffolk and North East Essex. The strategy consolidates
the development work across the health and care system, and is based on
consultation and engagement sessions where local people have had opportunities to
describe what matters to them and their families.
Given the UK’s intended departure from the European Union, originally on 29 March
2019, now extended to 31 October 2019, a key governance issue for the CCG has
been planning for Brexit and a scenario in which the UK leaves the EU without
agreement (a ‘no deal’ scenario) became a more likely event as the year progressed.
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) published EU Exit Operational
Readiness Guidance in December 2018, this having been developed and agreed with
NHS England & NHS Improvement. The guidance included for CCGs an Action Card
for Commissioners upon which the CCG based its own Brexit action plan, the purpose
of which is to ensure appropriate joint working with Alliance colleagues to mitigate
key difficulties arising should a no-deal exit occur. A Brexit no deal scenario also
formed part of the Local Resilience Forum agenda across Suffolk.
In summary, good governance is about the processes for making and implementing
decisions, but is also important for several other reasons. It not only gives the local
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community confidence in its CCG as the commissioner of their healthcare, but
improves the confidence that members and officers have in their own organisation and
its decision making processes. With the heightened corporate focus across the NHS
on integrated working through ICSs and Alliances, the need for clear and robust
governance arrangements is ever more important.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2019
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables (Subject to audit)

Period in Office

Salaries and Allowances 2018/19

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Kate Vaughton
Lisa Nobes
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Jane Webster
Richard Watson
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Geoff Dobson
Lynda Tuck
Stephen Chicken

Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Deputy Accountable Office and Chief Transformation Officer
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
GP and Lead for Children's Services, Maternity and the Mildenhall Locality
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member Conflicts of Interest

Management
Delivery Team
Yes/No
Note 1
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

From

To

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

01/04/2018
01/04/2018
02/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
03/09/2018
01/04/2018
27/06/2018
01/04/2018

31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
02/04/2018
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019

45 - 50
90 - 95
40 - 45
0-5
40 - 45
35 - 40
35 - 40
40 - 45
60 - 65
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
5 - 10

2018/19
Long-term
Performance Performance All Pension
Management
Expense
Pay and
Related
Related
Delivery Team
Payments
Bonuses
Bonuses
Benefits
Total Salary
(taxable) to (bands of
(bands of
(bands of Total (bands (bands of
nearest £100 £5,000)
£5,000)
£2,500)
of £5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Note 2
Note 1
0.1
0
0
12.5 - 15
60 - 65
130 - 135
0.4
0
0
22.5 - 25
115 - 120
N/A
0.1
0
0
45 - 47.5
85 - 90
110 - 115
0.1
0
0
0 - 2.5
0-5
0-5
0.1
0
0
10 - 12.5
50 - 55
100 - 105
0.1
0
0
5 - 7.5
40 - 45
90 - 95
0.2
0
0
30 - 32.5
65 - 70
90 - 95
0.1
0
0
15 - 17.5
60 - 65
105 - 110
0.0
0
0
0
60 - 65
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
30 - 35
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
30 - 35
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
30 - 35
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
30 - 35
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
15 - 20
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
10 - 15
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
10 - 15
N/A
0.0
0
0
0
5 - 10
N/A
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The below relates to the 2018/19 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Nursing Officer: - Chris Hooper held the position of Acting Chief Nursing Officer on
1st April 2018. Chris stood down when Lisa Nobes was appointed permanent Chief
Nursing Officer commencing 2nd April 2018.
GP Membership:
Godfrey Reynolds joined the Governing Body as the lead for Children's Services,
Maternity and the Mildenhall Locality.
Lay Membership:
Lynda Tuck replaced Johanna Finn as the Patient and Public Engagement Lay Member.
Ed Garratt joined North East Essex CCG as Interim Chief Officer from 1st January 2019.
North East Essex CCG was recharged for 37.18% of the relevant costs during that period.
Kate Vaughton currently joins board meetings at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust in
an attendance capacity and reports directly into Ed Garratt and Stephen Dunn (Chief
Officer at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust). Kate's role is the Director of Integration
and Partnerships.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the proportion: - Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 60.60% (2017/18 - 62.10%) - West Suffolk CCG 39.40% (2017/18
- 37.90%). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Chief
Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to West Suffolk CCG the
table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG host
the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay
costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG's
accounts and not as payroll costs.
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Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
Note 3 - Expense Payments (taxable) to nearest £100
This is the gross value of such benefits before tax. It includes:
• Expenses allowances that are subject to UK income tax and paid or payable to the
person in respect of qualifying services, and
• Benefits received by the person (other than salary) that are emoluments of the person
and are received by them in respect of qualifying services.
Specific to West Suffolk CCG, the benefit figures surround payments relating to Car
Usage.
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Salaries and Allowances 2017/18

Period in Office

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Kate Vaughton
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Richard Watson
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Dr Emma Holland
Dr Sarah Hughes
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Geoff Dobson
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Redesign Officer
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member

Management
Delivery
Team
Yes/No
Note 1
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

From

To

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017

31/03/2018
31/03/2018
28/07/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2018
17/11/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/10/2017
31/10/2017
31/12/2017
30/06/2017
31/08/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

45 - 50
90 - 95
30 - 35
25 - 30
35 - 40
15 - 20
15 - 20
25 - 30
10 - 15
30 - 40
75 - 80
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
0-5
5 - 10
5 - 10
10 - 15
5 - 10

2017/18
Long-term
Performance Performance
Expense
Pay and
Related
Payments
Bonuses
Bonuses
(taxable) to
(bands of
(bands of
nearest £100
£5,000)
£5,000)
£00
£000
£000
1
3
0
1
1
0
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
Note 2
10 - 12.5
52.5 - 55
0 - 2.5
35 - 37.5
7.5 - 10
10 - 15
12.5 - 15
7.5 - 10
5 - 7.5
12.5 - 15
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Management
Delivery Team
Total Salary
Total (bands
(bands of
of £5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
Note 1
55 - 60
125 - 130
145 - 150
N/A
35 - 40
90 - 95
60 - 65
60 - 65
45 - 50
95 - 100
30 - 35
45 - 50
30 - 35
50 - 55
35 - 40
110 - 115
15 - 20
35 - 40
50 - 55
95 - 100
75 - 80
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
0-5
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
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The below relates to the 2017/18 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Finance Officer: - Chris Armitt held the position of Acting Chief Finance Officer until
22nd September 2017 and then left the CCG on 20th October 2017. Jane Payling was
appointed as Chief Finance Officer on 25th September 2017.
Chief Nursing Officer: - Barbara McLean held the position of Chief Nursing Officer until
the 28th July 2017. Chris Hooper was subsequently appointed Acting Chief Nursing
Officer on the 31st July 2017.
Chief Contracts Officer: - Jan Thomas was in the position of Chief Contracts Officer until
the 17th November 2017, at which point she was then seconded to NHS Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough CCG. Jane Webster was appointed as Acting Chief Contracts Officer
on the 20th November 2017.
GP Membership:
Dr Emma Holland and Dr Sarah Hughes both resigned from the Governing body during
the year.
Lay Membership:
William Banks resigned as a lay member during the year and was replaced by Geoff
Dobson.
Practice Manager Lead:
Kevin Bernard resigned as the Practice Manager Lead during the year.
Note 1 – Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the proportion: Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 62.10% (2016/17 - 62.10%) - West Suffolk CCG 37.90% (2016/17
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- 37.90%). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Chief
Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to West Suffolk CCG the
table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG host
the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay
costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG's accounts and not as payroll costs.
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from data
received from NHS Pensions.
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Period in Office

Pension Benefits 2018/19

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Kate Vaughton
Lisa Nobes
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Jane Webster
Richard Watson

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

From
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018
01/04/2018

To
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
02/04/2018
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019
31/03/2019

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
5 - 7.5
(0 - 2.5)
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5

£000
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0
(7.5 - 10)
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
10 - 12.5
0

£000
25 - 30
20 - 25
60 - 65
25 - 30
40 - 45
35 - 40
35 - 40
15 - 20

£000
50 - 55
40 - 45
0
85 - 90
100 - 105
65 - 70
110 - 115
0

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2018

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2019

£000
302
243
621
623
663
464
688
134

£000
381
303
799
629
777
552
850
188

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
79
60
178
5
114
89
162
54

Members of the Board who do not make pension contributions or accrue pension benefits within the NHS Pension Scheme are not disclosed in
the above tables, as their remuneration is non-pensionable.
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Period in Office

Pension Benefits 2017/18

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Kate Vaughton
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Richard Watson

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

From
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017

To
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
28/07/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

£000
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
12.5 - 15
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
0

£000
20 - 25
15 - 20
35 - 40
30 - 35
35 - 40
35 - 40
15 - 20
10 - 15
30 - 35
15 - 20
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Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
Cash
at 31
Cash
Equivalent
March
Equivalent Transfer
2018
Transfer
Value at
(bands of Value at 1 31 March
£5,000) April 2017
2018
£000
45 - 50
40 - 45
115 - 120
90 - 95
100 - 105
60 - 65
30 - 35
15 - 20
95 - 100
0

£000
249
199
770
461
580
417
141
133
601
99

£000
290
236
837
605
644
450
178
158
668
127

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
38
35
59
93
59
15
20
24
22
27

£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Name
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Dr Emma Holland
Dr Sarah Hughes
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Geoff Dobson
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Title
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member

Remuneration policy

Policy on remuneration of senior managers
The policy for the remuneration of senior managers was operated in accordance with
Agenda for Change and it is intended to continue with this policy for future years. The
pay for both the Accountable Officer and the Chief Finance Officer was in accordance
with recently published national guidance. The remainder of the senior managers are
paid on the VSM (very senior manager) grade, all salaries have been nationally
benchmarked.

Remuneration Committee
Page 77 provides the members of the Remuneration Committee.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG is paid more than £150,000 per annum.

Senior managers’ performance related pay
There is no element of pay that is performance related.

Policy on senior managers’ contracts
All staff including senior managers (up to and including Band 9) follow the national
terms and conditions of service pertaining to notice periods. The maximum period of
notice under Agenda for Change is 3 months. Chief Officers are appointed in
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accordance with the VSM framework (Senior Salaries Review Board Recommendations)
and have a notice period built into their contracts of employment for six months.

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments of compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
during the year (2017/18 - £Nil).

Payments to past members (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments to past members during the year (2017/18 - £Nil).

Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of
the highest paid director / member in their organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in the
financial year 2018/19 was £90,000 to £95,000 (2017/18 - £90,000 to £95,000). This
was 2.56 (2017/18 - 2.61) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£36,644 (2017/18 - £35,014).
In 2018/19, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member
of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £0 to £95,000 (2017/18 - from
£10,000 to £95,000).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
The 2017/18 Pay Multiple, Remuneration Range & Median Remuneration figures have
been amended due to revised guidance within the DHSC Group Accounting Manual for
2018/19. Under the previous method, the figures quoted in the 2017/18 Annual Report
were Pay Multiple 2.56, Remuneration Range £10,000 to £95,000 and median
remuneration of the workforce £35,577.
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Staff Costs (Subject to Audit)

j

ct to audit)
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Staff composition
WSCCG Gender by Banding

West Suffolk CCG
Pay Band by Gender

Headcount

10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
2

3

4

5

6

7

8a

8b

8c

8d

9

perso
nal
salary

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

1

0

9

Female

0

0

0

7

5

2

1

0

2

1

0

4

Management Delivery Team Gender by Banding

Number of Staff

Banding by Gender
45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

Male
Female

Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Pers
2
3
4
5
6
7
8a
8b
8c
8d onal
Salar
y
0
0
4
0
8
15
9
3
5
3
22
3

13

25

18

43

25

15

14

6

4

17
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Staff policies applied during the Financial Year
All staff-related policies are assessed via an equality impact assessment to ensure
they are fair and equitable in relation to all employees, including those with
disabilities.
In addition to this:




We are a ‘disability positive’ employer. If an applicant is disabled and meets
the essential criteria for the job description they are guaranteed an interview.
This is enshrined in our Recruitment and Selection Policy
Adjustments for disability-related illness are included in our Sickness Absence
Policy
We have a policy of ensuring we make all reasonable adjustments to enable
staff with disabilities to progress in line with their peers.

These measures are designed to ensure we:




give full and fair consideration to applications made by disabled persons,
having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities
continue the employment of, and appropriate training for, employees who
have become disabled since they were employed by the company, and
provide training, career development and prospects for promotion of disabled
employees.

Staff numbers (Subject to audit)
Headcount
Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG
Grand Total

Permanent

Fixed Term

248

205

43

24

23

1

272

228

44
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Sickness absence data

West Suffolk CCG

Chief Operating Office, West Suffolk CCG
Chief Redesign Office, West Suffolk CCG
Overall Rate

0.96%
1.44%
1.28%

Management Delivery Team

Chief Corporate Office
Chief Contracts Office
Chief Finance Office
Chief Nursing office
Communications and external relations
Office of the Accountable Officer
Overall Rate

1.28%
1.73%
1.70%
3.05%
0.00%
0.00%
2.21%

Sickness absence rates for CCG employees overall were under the 2% target. Rates
in the Shared Management Delivery Team were above the 2% target due to the
higher sickness absence rates in the Chief Nursing Office. It should be noted that
staff in the Chief Nursing Office have direct contact with patients, which may explain
why sickness absence levels are above the national target. The three main causes
of sickness absence were anxiety, ‘colds, coughs and flu’ and musculoskeletal
ailments.
Return to work interviews and early referrals to occupational health by line managers
have helped reduce and manage the level of sickness absence. The CCG has
begun working with employee wellbeing experts CiC to provide staff with an
independent, free and confidential advice service. All CiC counsellors are either
accredited by or registered with the British Association for Counselling and
Psychotherapy or an equivalent professional body. They offer practical advice and
emotional support with work and personal issues. Other initiatives to improve staff
wellbeing have included a programme of flu jabs for all employees and a stress
workshop.
All of our employees have access to a Stress Management Toolkit which helps them
identify the causes of stress and are able to discuss any issues they may have with
line managers and the occupational health team. The CCG has also relaunched its
Staff Health and Wellbeing Group and a number of health and wellbeing champions
have been appointed.
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Sickness absence data continued
The health and wellbeing initiatives we have introduced have included:
•
•
•

access to Suffolk Wellbeing workshops
flexible working opportunities, and
monthly activities such as charity collections

We are accredited by Investors in People (IiP) to gold assessment standard and also
have the ‘Health and Wellbeing’ award and the ‘Staying Healthy at Work’ award.
During assessment for the IiP gold standard 193 requirements were evidenced, well
over the 165 needed. The executive summary in the IiP report praised the CCG for
“very clear direction and objectives”, “clear, high standards and procedures to enable
people to perform well” and “great encouragement and support of ideas for
improvement”.
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Other Employee Matters
Diversity issues and equal treatment in employment and
occupation
While we are confident the NHS services we commission are fair and accessible to
all, a person’s gender, age, race, disability, sexual orientation and religious beliefs will
be a factor in their care.
In line with the Equality Act 2012 we use the national Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
to ensure that we and our providers deliver better outcomes for the people of Suffolk.
This obliges us to make effective use of accurate data, communicate with our local
population and to provide consistency and leadership in our equality agenda.
This work is led by the CCG’s lay member for patient and public involvement with
support from the Community Engagement Partnership, a sub-committee of the board
drawn from members of the public.
A joint event in 2017/18 was overseen by Suffolk health care providers including the
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT), the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust
(NSFT), the East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) and Ipswich Hospital
NHS Trust (IHT). During this event patient representatives were asked to score the
partners on their achievements.
Objective 1
Patients and carers experience joined-up healthcare, ensuring access to the
right services at the right time.
Score: Achieving
Partnership working in several areas is paying dividends. The Connect project now
has teams working in 13 areas across Suffolk. The pilot scheme has seen police,
social care and healthcare teams finding new ways to work together so that patients
and carers get simpler access to care. More detail can be found HERE.
Objective 2
The CCG will improve use of equality data and information about Suffolk’s
diverse population and communities to inform its work.
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Score: Developing
The CCG has a clear idea of which populations live and work in our area. Economic
migrants are a key focus for engagement in our Communications and Engagement
Strategy. All GP practices have been given IT support tools to enable them to deliver
services in line with the Information Access Standard.
All of the CCG’s published materials are available to order in braille and ‘easy read’
(large print) on request. Visitors to our website can enlarge print, change language and
change colour schemes for ease of reading.
Objective 3
The CCG will improve the way that the Governing Body and Clinical Executive
can learn from the healthcare experiences of diverse and marginalised
individuals, groups and carers.
Score: Developing
Patient stories are heard at almost every Governing Body meeting. One of the stories
which had the most impact came from a mental health service user who talked about
her experience of autism services, which have helped inform some of the
Transforming Care work being led by the Chief Nursing Officer.
Work continues to provide support for the health and emotional wellbeing of young
people. A strategy has been co-produced using direct input from children and young
people and has led to the development of a 24/7 helpline.
Objective 4
Senior leaders and other managers will provide leadership, support and
motivation for their staff to uphold the CCG’s value of equality of opportunity to
improve the health of those most in need.
Score: Achieving
All staff completed equality and diversity training and have equality and diversity
objectives in their Personal Development Plans.
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Staff Engagement
A variety of means are used to keep staff informed about workplace developments.
These include:
• regular one-to-one meetings with line managers during which they are
encouraged to raise any concerns or issues
• monthly team briefings hosted by the Chief Officer during which questions
from the floor are encouraged or can be tabled anonymously in advance
• The Buzz, a fortnightly electronic newsletter, and
• Suffolk Headlines – an all staff email to alert people to key business and
building updates.
Any issues concerning staff are reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee
and the Staff Partnership Forum for discussion. CCG performance data is posted on
the staff intranet on a monthly basis.
The CCG’s values and behaviours are included in the personal development plans of
all employees and regular reviews are conducted by line managers to ensure they
are adhered to. Regular employee surveys are also undertaken.
Joint Staff Partnership:
The CGG works closely with trade unions including Unison, the Royal College of
Nursing and Managers in Partnership as part of the Joint Staff Partnership (JSP).
Meetings occur every other month and details of matters discussed and decisions
taken are communicated to staff.
During the year the JSP also reviewed and signed off a new staff sickness absence
policy and sponsored a ‘lunch and learn’ event on infection control.
Disabled employees:
The CCG promotes equality of opportunity in all it does, including in the recruitment
and selection of its workforce, and has ‘Positive about Disability’ accreditation. Its
recruitment and selection policy highlights the steps recruiting managers need to
take if an applicant declares themselves as disabled. Reasonable steps are taken to
ensure all disabled applicants are treated fairly, including being flexible about
interviewing venues, selection procedures and aptitude tests. Occupational health
advice and support is offered to all staff and specialist advice is sought for disabled
employees.
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Meetings with occupational health advisers are held every three months to review
how the CCG can actively support staff health and wellbeing. All employees undergo
an annual appraisal and personal development plans are drawn up on an equal
opportunities basis. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) regarding equal opportunities
are regularly reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee.

Health and Safety
The Health & Safety and Risk Committee meets quarterly to review issues relating to
the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs).
The committee is chaired by the Chief Corporate Services Officer and draws its
membership from both CCGs, their health and safety services provider Safetyboss
(until December 2018 when this was brought in-house) and the management delivery
team. The committee reports to the Remuneration and HR Committee for information
and comment.
Endeavour House, Landmark House and West Suffolk House all have Building User
Group (BUG) meetings. The CCGs have representatives who attend these meetings
and any health and safety issues, from either the Health, Safety and Risk Committee
or respective BUG meetings, are fed back to staff via these forums.
Health and safety training is now provided via a web-based training tool. The
mandatory modules cover the required areas of health and safety for a low risk office
environment and each module includes an assessment that must be passed by staff.
All CCG staff occupy Suffolk County Council (SCC) buildings and share their fire and
first aid arrangements. Staff have been trained in the use of evacuation chairs so they
are able to assist disabled staff in the event of an incident. Any health and safety
concerns relating to the buildings are relayed to the building facilities management
team for action. The SCC buildings occupied by CCG staff comply with current fire
safety legislation, with minimal risk of fire spread.
The Terms of Reference for the Health, Safety and Risk Committee are reviewed
annually. The committee continues to provide advice to staff regarding their safety
within the office environment and work with them to maintain a safe environment for
staff and visitors.
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The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Relevant union officials
Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during 2018/19:
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during 2018/19
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Full-time equivalent employee number
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of their working time spent on facility time by employees who were
relevant union officials employed during 2018/19:
Percentage of time
0%
1-50%
51-99%
100%

Number of employees
0
1
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union
officials for facility time during 2018/19:
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility
time

£0k
£11,709k
0.0%

Paid trade union activities
Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent by employees who were relevant
union officials during the 2018/19 on paid trade union activities:
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

100%
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Expenditure on consultancy

The CCG spent £250k during 2018/19 on consultancy services (2017/18 - £181k).
The majority of the expenditure for the year covered two main areas. The main area
of consultancy expenditure was on a Safeguarding Programme lead who was
engaged by the CCG to work within the structure of the Chief Nursing Officer's team.
The other main area of spend was to recruit an Information Governance lead to
ensure the CCG's compliance with such legislation.
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Off-payroll engagements

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:

Number

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

4

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

3

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

1

For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2018 and
31 March 2019, for more than £220 per day and that last longer

Number

than six months:
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019

0

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
NHS West Suffolk CCG the right to request assurance in relation to

0

income tax and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

Of which:
assurance has been received

0

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

0
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The CCG has robust contractual arrangement with all of its off-payroll
engagements that minimises any risk to the CCG. The contractual
arrangements require all off-payroll engagements to provide assurance that
the correct amount of tax is being paid.
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2018 and 31 March
2019:
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure

16

should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject
to audit)

The CCG agreed two exit packages during 2018-19, both exit packages were agreed
in the form of a redundancy payment. Exit payment one was for £17,098 and exit
payment two was £94,666. During 2017-18, no exit packages were agreed.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report in the Annual Accounts Note 19. An
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at the end of
Section 3, Annual Accounts.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019

Note

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(11,142)
(1,156)
(12,298)

(10,726)
(858)
(11,584)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

12,765
350,958
207
1,653
278
365,861

10,329
338,765
120
106
551
349,871

Net Operating Expenditure

353,563

338,287

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year

353,563

338,287

-

-

353,563

338,287

Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

2
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2019
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Impact of applying IFRS 15 to Opening Balances
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

(18,331)
(18,331)

(18,331)
(18,331)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(353,563)

(353,563)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(353,563)
347,479
(24,415)

(353,563)
347,479
(24,415)

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

(10,523)
(10,523)

(10,523)
(10,523)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(338,287)

(338,287)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(338,287)
330,479
(18,331)

(338,287)
330,479
(18,331)

Note:
Under the NHS reforms that came into effect in April 2013, most of the material high value assets previously carried by Primary Care Trusts such
as land and buildings were transferred to non-CCG bodies, e.g. NHS Property Services Ltd. Consequently CCGs in general do not carry material
non-current assets on their balance sheets. Therefore net assets/liabilities equate to the difference between actual net operating costs incurred
(accounted for on an accruals basis) and the cash funding drawn down from NHS England to finance this expenditure.
The notes on pages 6 to 28 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on page 6 - 28 form part of this statement
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2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(353,563)
208
(1,961)
6,260
1,653
(347,403)

(338,287)
120
214
8,098
(168)
106
(329,917)

(171)
(171)

(395)
(38)
(433)

(347,574)

(330,350)

347,479
347,479

330,479
330,479

(95)

129

255
160

126
254
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Accounting Policies
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of
the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and
Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury,
which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning
group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial
statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
The CCG has considered its circumstances and expects to continue to exist for at least twelve months after the release of these
financial statements, and in any case that its services will continue to be provided by another public sector entity.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council, in accordance with
section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled in the Better Care Fund, and also into the Mental Health
Pooled Fund. The former seeks to join up health and care services, and the latter is used to jointly purchase mental health services.
Note 16 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pools are both hosted by Suffolk County Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget
agreement.

1.4

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the revenue note and are reported as a single segment in line with management
information used within the clinical commissioning group.

1.5

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard
retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
The comparative information is presented under pre-IFRS recognition requirements, whereby revenue in respect of services
provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration
receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
Under IFRS 15, Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by
transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation. Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year,
that income is deferred.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance
obligations as part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical
expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the
performance completed to date.
• The HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the
Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of
initial application.
• The clinical commissioning group does not hold any contracts where they expect that the customer will pay for the goods or
services more than one year after the goods or services are provided, and as such is choosing to apply the practical expedient as
per Paragraph 63, not adjusting the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing component.
• The clinical commissioning group intends to take advantage of the practical expedient offered in paragraph 4, whereby the clinical
commissioning group is permitted to apply the Standard to portfolios of contracts with similar characteristics, as the effect on the
financial statements from applying the Standard in this way will not differ materially from applying this Standard to individual
contracts.
• The clinical commissioning group will be taking the practical expedient listed in paragraph 94 of recognising the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract as an expense when they are incurred; where the amortisation of the asset the entity would otherwise have
recognised is one year or less.
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The main sources of revenue are as follows:
• The management delivery team provided by West Suffolk on behalf of both East and West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups.
West Suffolk clinical commissioning group employs the staff and the staff are deployed across both clinical commissioning groups.
The performance obligation in this instance is to be available to provide support and to provide management services as required
by Ipswich and East Suffolk clinical commissioning group. West Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct the
affairs of Ipswich and East Suffolk at all times during office hours, and on call cover outside office hours. The Ipswich and East
Suffolk clinical commissioning group's entitlement to management services do not decrease in the future with the current provision
of said management services. Work performed by employees of West Suffolk would not have to be repeated, and overall fulfills the
requirements for recognition over time.
• The provision of transformation services for the Sustainability Transformation Partnership, relating to changes to diabetes care
and elective care. The clinical commissioning group is required to run projects in relation to the changes in care, and the clinical
commissioning group controls how these projects are completed. When the projects have been run, the clinical commissioning
group is then entitled to income covering the costs of the project, and as such income should be recognised in line with expenditure
on the projects.
• The provision of services for the care of young people with complex health needs, where Suffolk County Council agrees partial
funding, but the clinical commissioning group maintains control of the placement and the risks attached.
• The ambulance commissioning team provided by West Suffolk on behalf of all the clinical commissioning groups covered by the
East of England Ambulance Service. West Suffolk clinical commissioning group employs the staff and the staff are deployed to
facilitate appropriate ambulance commissioning across the various clinical commissioning groups. The performance obligation in
this instance is to be available to provide this commissioning facilitation as required by the clinical commissioning groups. West
Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct these affairs. The other clinical commissioning groups' entitlement to the
provision of these services do not decrease in the future with the current provision of said services. Work performed by employees
of West Suffolk would not have to be repeated, and overall fulfills the requirements for recognition over time.
• Extended Access Funding, which is income received from NHS England in relation to an audit completed on the clinical
commissioning group's extended access provisions in the form of GP+ services. It is lump sum income receivable on completion of
an audit and as such is recognised when the audit is completed satisfactorily.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles, at 30 days. There are no other significant terms.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 20, Accounting for Government
Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash
training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the
period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent
that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution
schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning
group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous
disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing
the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use.
Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no
restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at
depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be
materially different from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised
in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised.
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9
1.9.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·
When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical
commissioning group;
·
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·
Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is
capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it;
and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.9.2

Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internallygenerated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where
no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating .
Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and
technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.

1.9.3

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of
economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical
commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical
commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant
and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment
loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped
at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is
credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.10

1.10.1

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether
they are operating or finance leases.

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
Note that where specific increases in cashflows are known, they have been used to give more appropriate discounting than the
nominal rates provided by HM Treasury. The CCG is aware that for many of its provisions increases in cash flows are expected to
be in line with inflation.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS
Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS
Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning
group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning
group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent
asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the
case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9,
and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.16.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting
contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables
and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.16.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest.

1.16.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term.

1.16.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning
group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss
allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For
other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month
expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government
departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is
ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage
2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally the Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort
against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances
for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date
are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment
gain or loss.

1.17

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
After initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans
from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.

1.18

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of
VAT.
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1.19

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or
passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.20

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements,
estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.

1.20.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying
the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.
Better Care Fund:
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council in respect of the Better Care Fund. This is a
national policy
initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the agreement, the Department of
Health and Social Care manual for accounts and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the CCG has determined that there
are two elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as follows:
(i) The first part is controlled by Suffolk County Council which commissions services from various non-NHS providers. Whilst the
services are
determined in partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the council. The CCG accounts for this on a
lead commissioner basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.
(ii) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and
rewards of these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those
services. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the
process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial
statements.

1.20.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Prescription Services and Prescribing Liabilities:
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by
independent GPs, CCG run practices and other CCG services. The total expenditure for the year includes an estimate for March,
based on the estimated profile of spend. The estimate for March 2019 is £3.3m (2017/18: £3.4m). The cash outlay for the
expenditure is also in arrears, with the estimate for remaining cash outlay being equal to the estimated unbilled prescriptions.
Secondary Healthcare:
Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not
available in time for the accounts, so estimates are made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once
actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any)
becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year. Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent
actual data, they have not been materially different. Estimation techniques are used to ensure that the correct levels of income due
and expenditure relating to the current year are included through the inclusion of accruals based on known commitments and local
knowledge.
Partially Completed Spells:
Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are apportioned across the financial years on the
basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. The CCG agrees to use the
figures calculated by the local provider Trusts. The closing partially completed spells accruals, as notified by the provider Trusts,
have been netted off with the equivalent balances from the prior year, with any resulting difference charged to operating expenses.
The value of the accrual as at 31 March 2019 is £1,361k (31 March 2018: £1,278k).
Maternity Pathways:
Expenditure relating to all ante-natal maternity care is made at the start of a pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed
pathways are treated as a prepayment. The CCG agreed the methodology to be used for the calculation with the local provider
Trusts. The value of the prepayment as at 31 March 2019 is £798k (31 March 2018: £997k).
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Continuing Healthcare Accruals:
The CCG commissions a large number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) packages from a variety of providers, and administers
these packages using the Broadcare system. At the end of any accounting period there will be a number of liabilities that have not
been invoiced by providers, and so an accrual is calculated to ensure that the financial ledger is consistent with the information
reported on Broadcare. The value of the accrual as at 31 March 2019 is £1,393k (31 March 2018: £1,168k).
1.21

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual does not require the following International Financial
Reporting Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM
adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to
HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application
required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The application of IFRS 17 and IFRIC 23 as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they
applied in that year.
IFRS 16 is also not expected to have a material impact on the CCG’s financial statements in the period of initial application, and an
analysis of the relevant leases has been completed in order to allow assessment of the materiality of its adoption.
A. IFRS 16 Leases
The CCG is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 April 2020. The CCG has assessed the estimated impact that initial
application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements, as described below. The actual impacts of adopting the
standard on 1 April 2020 may change because the new accounting policies are subject to change until the CCG presents its first
financial statements that include the date of initial application.
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are
recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current
standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance,
including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, Standards Interpretation Committee
(SIC) 15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
i.
Leases in which the CCG is a lessee
The CCG will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases of office space and equipment (see Note 7)). The
nature of expenses related to those leases will now change because the CCG will recognise a depreciation charge for right-ofuse assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.
Previously, the CCG recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and recognised
assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference between actual lease payments and the expense
recognised. The CCG does not hold any leases that it assesses to be onerous, and as such this section of IFRS 16 will not
have any impact on the CCG.
These changes are not expected to increase assets or liabilities materially.
The CCG does not hold finance leases, and as such no impact is expected.
ii.
Transition
The CCG plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 April 2020, using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore, the cumulative
effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2020,
with no restatement of comparative information. The CCG plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of
a lease on transition. This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 1 April 2020 and identified as
leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
Note that the Financial Reporting Advisory Board and Department of Health and Social Care guidance on transition and which
aspects will be mandated has not yet been finalised, so the approach to transition is still subject to change.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2018-19
Admin

2018-19
Programme

2018-19
Total

2017-18
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Prescription fees and charges
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services

132
6,085
695
6,912

400
3,814
16
4,230

532
9,899
711
11,142

25
10,397
79
225
10,726

Other operating income
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income

1,146
1,146

10
10

1,156
1,156

858
858

Total Operating Income

8,058

4,240

12,298

11,584

3 Revenue
3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)
Education,
training and
research

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies

Recoveries in
respect of
employee
benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

532
532

9,800
99
9,899

573
138
711

Education,
training and
research

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies

Recoveries in
respect of
employee
benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

Timing of Revenue
Over time
Total

532
532

9,899
9,899

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations
No contract revenue is expected to be recognised in future periods related to contract performance obligations.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits - 2018-19

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

9,987
1,069
1,343
42
112
12,553

212
212

10,199
1,069
1,343
42
112
12,765

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(711)
11,842

212

(711)
12,054

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

11,842

212

12,054

4.1.1 Employee benefits - 2017-18

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2017-18

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

8,110
875
1,105
31
10,121

208
208

8,318
875
1,105
31
10,329

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(225)
9,896

208

(225)
10,104

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

9,896

208

10,104

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(576)
(62)
(73)
(711)
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Total
£'000
(576)
(62)
(73)
(711)

2017-18
Total
£'000
(179)
(21)
(25)
(225)
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital
projects

2017-18

Other
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

236

3

238

193

5

198

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£10,001 to £25,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
17,098
1
94,667
2
111,765

2018-19
Total
Number
1
1
2

£
17,098
94,667
111,765

No exit packages were agreed in 2017-18
Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval
Total*

2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
2
90,432
1
21,333
3
111,765

2017-18
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

NOTE: The exit package of £17,098 agreed during 2018-19 relates to a Management Delivery Team member who was performing a shared role split between West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG. Due to the fact that West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team, the exit package was paid in full through the host organisation. Therefore the full
amount of the exit package is shown above with income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies' (see note 2). The income from
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG equated to 60.6% of the total settlement, therefore £10,361.
* As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted separately in this table, the total number will not necessarily match the total number in the table
above, which will be the number of individuals.
These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
Where NHS West Suffolk has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS West Suffolk and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. Ill-health
retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in
each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £1,343k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £1,105k) at the rate of 14.38% of
pensionable pay. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four
years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March
2019 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme
Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Admin
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GMS/PMS/APMS (N1)
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Legal and professional fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Clinical negligence
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2018-19
Programme
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

166
30
160
235
1,773
3
419
66
62
285
3,199

33
214,436
12,214
42,429
38,565
140
37,011
63
30
15
2,201
4
606
(40)
52
347,759

199
214,466
12,214
42,429
38,565
140
37,011
63
190
250
3,974
7
1,025
66
22
337
350,958

13,229
192,184
15,272
36,759
40,090
155
34,846
80
204
204
4,248
1
1,054
66
145
228
338,765

142
23
165

42
42

184
23
207

109
11
120

-

1,653
1,653

1,653
1,653

106
106

241
8
3
252

24
2
26

265
8
5
278

545
6
551

3,616

349,480

353,096

339,542

N1 - GMS (General Medical Services), PMS (Primary Medical Services), APMS (Alternative Provider Medical Services),
5.1 Limitation on Auditors' liability
The limitation of the auditors' liability for external audit work is £2m.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

9,875
9,490
96%

94,456
92,497
98%

9,299
8,902
96%

85,977
84,203
98%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,477
2,417
98%

234,823
233,059
99%

2,294
2,218
97%

224,994
223,617
99%

Note that the target payment terms are 30 days, and CCG is expected to pay at least 95% of invoices within those terms.
6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

2018-19
£'000

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

2017-18
£'000
-
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited, as well as property owned by local authorities.
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

730
730

8
8

738
738

922
922

29
29

951
951

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charges for future years have not yet been agreed.
As such, while payments made to NHS Property Services constitute payments relating to operating leases, these properties have no formal lease, and therefore no
future minimum lease payments.
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

105
301
330
736

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
2
2

Buildings
£'000
107
301
330
738

76
304
342
722

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
-

76
304
342
722

West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team
includes lease costs, and is shared between both CCGs in the following proportion:
- Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 60.6%
- West Suffolk CCG 39.4%
The Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these costs is shown as income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in the West Suffolk CCG accounts, and is not netted-off against lease costs. Likewise the
share of the cost is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG accounts, and not as a lease cost.
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
714

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
386

Total
£'000
1,100

Reclassifications
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019

22
736

(22)
364

1,100

Depreciation 01 April 2018
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

160
146
306

100
38
138

260
184
444

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

430

226

656

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

430
430

226
226

656
656

430
430

226
226

656
656

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2019
8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2018-19
£'000
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
Total

2017-18
£'000
20
22
42

20
20

Minimum Life
(years)
2
3

Maximum Life
(Years)
5
15

8.2 Economic lives

Information technology
Furniture & fittings

9 Intangible non-current assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
91

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2019

91

91

Amortisation 01 April 2018

21

21

Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2019

23
44

23
44

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

47

47

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

91
91

91
91

Minimum Life
(years)
3

Maximum Life
(Years)
5

2018-19

Total
£'000
91

9.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased
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10 Trade and other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

Current
2017-18
£'000

5,226
798
318
102
99
(2)
14
29
6,584

3,154
729
253
180
289
18
4,623

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
260
39
1
300

2018-19
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
90
15
1
106

10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2017-18
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
895
2
(1)
896

2017-18
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
137
17
154

10.2 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

Trade and other
receivables other DHSC
group bodies
£000s

Trade and other
receivables external

Other financial
assets

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

255
255

3,081
3,081

73
73

560
560

3,969
3,969

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

255
255

3,081
3,081

73
73

560
560

3,969
3,969

10.3 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9
The provision as at 31 March 2018 was nil. No loss allowance arose from the application of IFRS 9, as at 1 April 2018.

21

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19
11 Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
255
(95)
160

2017-18
£'000
126
129
255

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

160
160

255
255

Balance at 31 March 2019

160

255

Balance at 01 April 2018
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2019

Current
2018-19
£'000

12 Trade and other payables

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

2,024
1,361
2,719
22,689
3
190
177
2
762
29,927

Current
2017-18
£'000
3,266
1,441
2,521
171
15,555
153
2
156
574
23,839

Other payables include £514k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019.
12.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
Trade and
other
payables NHSE
bodies
£000s

Trade and
other
payables other
DHSC
group
bodies
£000s

Trade and
other
payables external

Total

£000s

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Liabilities held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

683
683

4,024
4,024

18,821
18,821

23,528
23,528

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

683
683

4,024
4,024

18,821
18,821

23,528
23,528
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13 Provisions
Current
2018-19
£'000
Continuing care
Other
Total

326
1,041
1,367

Total current and non-current

1,933
Continuing
Care
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000
70
496
566

Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000
280
280
280

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2018

280

-

280

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2019

200
(84)
396

1,537
1,537

1,737
(84)
1,933

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
Balance at 31 March 2019

326
70
396

1,041
496
1,537

1,367
566
1,933

The continuing care provision consists of the likely costs associated with appeals as at 31 March 2019 and the likely costs associated
with a backlog of cases that relate to retrospective periods of care. The provision has been calculated on a case by case basis using
both average weekly costs and conversion rates. Additionally, increased rates of retrospective claims are expected as a result of new
guidance issued in October 2018, and a provision to account for these increases is included within the continuing care provision.
Provisions that make up "Other" include provision for increased costs in relation to issues with provider sustainability, increased costs
as a result of a constructive obligation in relation to premises, and to potential one-off costs in relation to a public sector construction
project.
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14 Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS West Suffolk CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds. Financial assets and
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group
in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS West Suffolk
CCG standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling
based. The CCG has no overseas operations, and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The CCG holds no borrowings, and therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, it has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as
at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS West Suffolk CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises, and is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

14.2 Financial assets
Financial assets and financial liabilties differ from assets and liabilities in the accounts because they only include those items classified as
financial, rather than all assets. This means some items such as provisions are excluded.
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
4,770
579
294
29
160
5,832

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000
4,770
579
294
29
160
5,832

14.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations
Total at 31 March 2019

946
8,727
19,120
762
29,555
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15 Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has income totalling £12,298K from external customers. Only one customer generated income greater than
10% of the total sum - NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£8,428k). The majority of this income is derived from the hosting of the joint
management delivery team.
16 Pooled Funds
16.1 Interests in pooled funds

Amounts recognised in Entities books
ONLY

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Description of principal activities

2018-19

2017-18

Expenditure

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

Mental Health Pooled Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Purchase of mental health services

382

382

Better Care Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Jointly commission or deliver health
and social care services

15,135

14,853

16.2 Mental Health Pooled Fund
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, in which the Clinical
Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £381,745 (2017-18 - £381,745).
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group makes
contributions to the pool, which is then used to purchase Mental Health services.
The memorandum account produced by Suffolk County Council shows total income of £3,345,133 (2017-18 - £3,101,133) and total expenditure
of £2,948,050 (2017-18 - £3,068,361). This leaves a surplus of £397,082 (2017-18 - £32,772) as at 31 March 2019.
The CCG's share of this surplus is £45,315 (2017-18 - £4,142).
16.3 Better Care Fund
From 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a Section 75 pooled fund arrangement with Suffolk County Council for the
Better Care Fund. The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a policy initiative between local authorities, CCGs and NHS providers which has resulted in
pooled funds being used to jointly commission or deliver health and social care. Suffolk County Council act as the Host Partner for the pooled
fund and provides the financial management for the fund.
Strategic oversight of the Better Care Fund is provided by the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Clinical Commissioning Group and Suffolk
County Council have agreed that the already established Suffolk Commissioners' Group should act as the Partnership Board for the fund. The
Partnership Board is responsible for the overall approval of the individual schemes, ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and
the strategic direction of the Better Care Fund.
Each partner to the Better Care Fund manages the contracts with their own providers of Better Care Fund services and each partner retains
any financial risk relating to those contracts. The Clinical Commissioning Group made a total Better Care Fund contribution of £15.135m in
2018-19 (2017-18 - £14.853m), this consisted of direct contributions to the pooled fund totalling £5.409m (2017-18 - £5.308m) with the balance
spent on a lead commissioning basis by the CCG.
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17. Related party transactions (2018-19)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across five localities (currently 4 vacant GP posts); one secondary care lead
(currently vacant); two lay members responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay
member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal
medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of
payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for specific contracts.
Note that personal payments to governing body members are disclosed in the remuneration report within the annual report.
2018/19
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party

GP Governing Body Members

£000
44
53
88
34

Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Andrew Hassan (became Enhanced Associate GP Oct 18)
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Godfrey Reynolds - GP - Market Cross Surgery

£000
-

£000
1
7
1

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
-

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Provision of
Primary Care
£000
1,435
1,802
3,505
1,563

Other Entities (i.e. not related to GP Practices)
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice & Governing Body Member and Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice &
Governing Body Member, work as Out of Hours Doctor and GP + Doctor, respectively, for the following entities.

2018/19
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
Name of Related Party
Care UK
GP Suffolk Federation

£000
3,446
1,470

£000
-

£000
-

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
38

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000
-

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded
£250,000 are listed below:-

2018/19 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
NHS Property Services
NHS England
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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17. (cont.) Related party transactions (2017-18)

West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across five localities (currently 2 vacant posts); one secondary care lead (currently
vacant); two lay members responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief
officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by
the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied
under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for specific contracts.
2017/18
Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
70
84
24
45
0
68
48
202

£000
-

£000
7
3
1
29
2
1

£000
-

GP Governing Body Members
Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Simon Arthur - Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Zohra Armitage- GP-Angel Hill Surgery
Dr Emma Holland- GP Orchard House Surgery (left October 2017)
Dr Sarah Hughes- GP Swan Surgery (left October 2017)

Payments to
Related Party in
respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000
1,427
832
1,670
3,259
1,938
1,428
1,484

Practice Manager Governing Body Members
Kevin Bernard was a governing body member (resigned December 2017) and also the Practice Manager at Botesdale Health Centre. The CCG's transactions
with Botesdale Health Centre were as follows:2017/18

Name of Related Party
Kevin Bernard - Botesdale Health Centre

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

Payments to
Related Party in
respect of
Primary Care
Provision

£000
111

£000
1

£000
5

£000
-

£000
1,266

Other Entities (i.e. not related to GP Practices)
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice & Governing Body Member and Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice & Governing
Body Member, work as Out of Hours Doctor and GP + Doctor, respectively, for the following entities.
2017/18

Name of Related Party
Care UK
GP Suffolk Federation

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
3,001
842

£000
1
36

£000
63

£000
24

Payments to
Related Party in
respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000
8

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250,000
are listed below:-

2017/18 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
NHS Property Services
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
East Of England Ambulance Services NHS Trust
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
NHS North & East London CSU
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.
Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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18 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
NHS Act Section Duty Achieved?
Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)

2018-19
Target
366,869
354,571
5,678

N/A
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

2018-19
Performance
365,861
353,563
4,727

19 Losses and special payments
Losses
The total number of NHS clinical commissioning group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Total

Total Number
of Cases
2018-19
Number

Total Value of
Cases
2018-19
£'000

2
2

3
3

Total Number
of Cases
2017-18
Number

There were no cases individually exceeding £300k.
Special payments
There were no special payments in 2018-19 (2017-18 - nil)
20 Impact of New IFRS
New IFRS Standards in the year, including IFRS 15, have had no material impact on transition, and hence no detailed transition note is included in these accounts.
21 Events after the end of the reporting period
There were no events after the balance sheet date to be declared in 2018-19 (2017-18 - nil).
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Total Value of
Cases
2017-18
£'000
-

-

2017-18
Target
352,295
589
340,122
5,602

2017-18
Performance
350,460
589
338,287
5,005

